
Chief Executive

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Councillor Robert Gilligan (Chair) Labour
Councillor Ged Philbin (Vice-Chair) Labour
Councillor Harry Howard Labour
Councillor Noel Hutchinson Labour
Councillor Peter Lloyd Jones Labour
Councillor Alan Lowe Labour
Councillor Norman Plumpton Walsh Labour
Councillor Gareth Stockton Liberal Democrats
Councillor Angela Teeling Labour
Councillor Kevan Wainwright Labour
Councillor Andrea Wall Labour

Please contact Gill Ferguson on 0151 511 8059 or 
gill.ferguson@halton.gov.uk  for further information.
The next meeting of the Board is on Tuesday, 2 November 2021

Corporate Policy and Performance Board

Tuesday, 7 September 2021 6.30 p.m.
Council Chamber - Town Hall, Runcorn

Public Document Pack



ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH 
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Part l

Item No. Page No.

1. MINUTES 1 - 4

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST (INCLUDING PARTY WHIP 
DECLARATIONS) 

 
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, to 
leave the meeting during any discussion and voting on the item.

3. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 5 - 7

4. EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES 8 - 14

5. MEMBER DEVELOPMENT GROUP NOTES 15 - 17

6. DEVELOPMENT OF POLICY ISSUES

(A) APPEAL PANEL ARRANGEMENTS  18 - 19

(B) WIDNES MARKET UPDATE  20 - 28

7. PERFORMANCE MONITORING

(A) PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS FOR Q1 OF 
2021/22  

29 - 66

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block.



CORPORATE POLICY AND PERFORMANCE BOARD

At a meeting of the Corporate Policy and Performance Board on Tuesday, 8 June 2021 
in the Bridge Suite, DCBL Stadium

Present: Councillors Gilligan (Chair), Philbin (Vice-Chair), Howard, Hutchinson, 
P. Lloyd Jones, A. Lowe, G. Stockton, Teeling and Wall 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor  N. Plumpton Walsh

Absence declared on Council business: None

Officers present: M. Reaney, I. Leivesley, C. Hill, E. Dawson, G. Ferguson, 
S. Davies and L Pennington-Ramsden

Also in attendance: One member of the press

Action
CS1 MINUTES

The Minutes from the meeting held on 26 January 
2021 were taken as read and signed as a correct record.

CS2 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

The Board was advised that no public questions had 
been received.

CS3 EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES

The Board was presented with the Minutes relating to 
the Corporate Services Portfolio which had been considered 
by the Executive Board since the last meeting of this Board.

RESOLVED: That the Minutes be noted.

CS4 BREATHING SPACE

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director Enterprise, Community and Resources, which 
provided information on the Breathing Space process which 
came into effect on 4 May 2021. It provides Council debtors 
with legal protections to ensure that creditors pause 

ITEM DEALT WITH 
UNDER DUTIES 

EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



recovery and enforcement action for a period of up to 60 
days.

There were two types of breathing space: a standard 
breathing space and a mental health crisis breathing space.

A standard breathing space is available to anyone 
with problem debt. It provided legal protections from creditor 
action for up to 60 days. The protections included pausing 
most enforcement action and contact from creditors and 
freezing most interest and charges on their debts.

A mental health crisis breathing space was only 
available to someone who received mental health crisis 
treatment and it had some stronger protections. It lasts as 
long as the person’s mental health crisis treatment, plus 30 
days (no matter how long the crisis treatment lasts).

Members noted information on:

 Debt-advice providers;
 The insolvency service;
 Applying for a standard breathing space and 

eligibility;
 Applying for a mental health crisis breathing space 

and eligibility;
 Qualifying and excluded debts; and
 The Council’s role throughout the process and the 

next steps when a breathing space end.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

CS5 ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

The Board considered a copy of the Annual Report 
from the Chair of the Corporate Services Board, 2020/21. 
The Board met four times during the year and the report set 
out the work carried out and the recommendations 
throughout the Municipal Year April 2020 to March 2021. 

RESOLVED: That the Annual Report be noted.

CS6 EXTERNAL FUNDING UPDATE

The Board considered an update report from the 
Strategic Director Enterprise, Community and Resources, on 
the work of the External Funding Team in securing external 
funding resources into Halton. The Team focussed on the 
following funding resources: Government, European, 
National Lottery, Landfill Funding, Trusts and Foundations. 

Page 2



The report covered the following issues:

 An update on the team’s key activities and priorities;
 Covid response;
 Emerging issues in external funding; and
 Funding statistics for the period 2020-21.

A Member queried the protocols put in place to 
replace European Funding streams from 2023. In response 
the Board was advised on the Government Priority Fund.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

CS7 CORPORATE ACCIDENT / INCIDENT REPORT 1.4.20 TO 
31.3.21

The Board was provided with a report from the 
Strategic Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, 
which presented details of health and safety management 
within the Authority from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.

The report highlighted health and safety incidents that 
had taken place over the past twelve months and as a result 
of those incidents proposed actions for the future. In addition 
the report included information around the number of actual 
near misses, accidents that had resulted over 7 day 
absences, together with significant accidents. It also 
included Covid employee figures. 

Arising from the discussion, the Board were provided 
with further information on the Lone Working Scheme for 
employees. The Scheme had been developed in conjunction 
with staff and its mandatory use had the support of Trade 
Unions and Senior Management. The Board agreed that its 
primary concern was for the Scheme to protect those 
employees.

RESOLVED: That the contents of the report be noted 
including the recommendations and actions for 2021/22. 

CS8 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS FOR 
QUARTER 4 OF 2020/21

The Board received a report of the Strategic Director, 
Enterprise, Community and Resources, which presented the 
Performance Monitoring Report for Quarter 4 of 2020/21.

The reports related to the following functional areas 
which reported to the  Board and detailed progress against 
service objectives and milestones and performance targets, 

Page 3



and provided information relating to key developments and 
emerging issues that had arisen during the period: 

 Finance;
 Human Resources and Organisational 

Development;
 ICT and Administrative Support;
 Legal and Democracy;
 Policy and Performance;
 Property Services; and 
 Catering, Stadium and Registration Services.

It was agreed that the Board would be provided with 
further information on the criteria applied by other local 
authorities in respect the Covid Self-Isolation Payments.

RESOLVED: That the Quarter 4 Performance 
Monitoring reports be received and noted.

Meeting ended at 7.39 p.m.

Page 4



REPORT TO: Corporate Policy & Performance Board

DATE: 7 September 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, Enterprise, Community and 
Resources  

SUBJECT: Public Question Time

WARD(s): Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To consider any questions submitted by the Public in accordance with 
Standing Order 34(9). 

1.2 Details of any questions received will be circulated at the meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That any questions received be dealt with.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Standing Order 34(9) states that Public Questions shall be dealt with as 
follows:-

(i) A total of 30 minutes will be allocated for dealing with questions 
from members of the public who are residents of the Borough, to 
ask questions at meetings of the Policy and Performance Boards. 

(ii) Members of the public can ask questions on any matter relating to 
the agenda.

(iii) Members of the public can ask questions. Written notice of 
questions must be given by 4.00 pm on the working day prior to 
the date of the meeting to the Committee Services Manager. At 
any one meeting no person/organisation may submit more than 
one question.

(iv) One supplementary question (relating to the original question) may 
be asked by the questioner, which may or may not be answered at 
the meeting.

(v) The Chair or proper officer may reject a question if it:-
 Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 

responsibility or which affects the Borough;
 Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, abusive or racist;
 Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at 

a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



 Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.
(vi) In the interests of natural justice, public questions cannot relate to 

a planning or licensing application or to any matter which is not 
dealt with in the public part of a meeting.

(vii) The Chair will ask for people to indicate that they wish to ask a 
question.

(viii) PLEASE NOTE that the maximum amount of time each 
questioner will be allowed is 3 minutes.

(ix) If you do not receive a response at the meeting, a Council Officer 
will ask for your name and address and make sure that you 
receive a written response.

Please bear in mind that public question time lasts for a maximum 
of 30 minutes. To help in making the most of this opportunity to 
speak:-

 Please keep your questions as concise as possible.

 Please do not repeat or make statements on earlier questions as 
this reduces the time available for other issues to be raised. 

 Please note public question time is not intended for debate – 
issues raised will be responded to either at the meeting or in 
writing at a later date.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

None.

5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

None. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton  - none.

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton  - none.

6.3 A Healthy Halton – none.

6.4 A Safer Halton – none.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal – none.

Page 6



7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 7



REPORT TO: Corporate Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 7 September 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive 

SUBJECT: Executive Board Minutes

WARD(s): Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The Minutes relating to the Corporate Services Portfolio which have 
been considered by the Executive Board are attached at Appendix 1 for 
information.

1.2 The Minutes are submitted to inform the Policy and Performance Board 
of decisions taken in their area.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted.

3.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 None.

4.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

5.1 Children and Young People in Halton

None 

5.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton

None 

5.3 A Healthy Halton

None

5.4 A Safer Halton

None 

5.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

Page 8 Agenda Item 4



None

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS

6.1 None.

7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 9



APPENDIX 1

Extract of Executive Board Minutes Relevant to the Corporate 
Policy and Performance Board

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 17 JUNE 2021

CORPORATE SERVICES PORTFOLIO

EXB2 DISCRETIONARY NON-DOMESTIC RATE RELIEF

The Board considered a report from the Strategic 
Director – Enterprise, Community and Resources, which 
presented an application for discretionary non-domestic rate 
relief, under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988.

It was reported that an application for discretionary 
rate relief had been received from ‘Have a Heart 
Foundation’, who were a registered Charity, in respect of 
their new premises located at 47 Runcorn Shopping Centre, 
Runcorn.

The report provided information on the Charity and 
details of the costs of granting 15% top-up discretionary rate 
relief to them for the 2021/22 financial year; full details were 
provided at Appendix one to the report.

RESOLVED:  That the Board approves a 15% top-up 
discretionary rate relief to the ‘Have a Heart Foundation’ in 
respect of 47 Runcorn Shopping City, Runcorn for the 
2021/22 financial year.

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

EXB3 WASTE, WATER & ANCILLARY SERVICES CONTRACT

The Board received a report of the Strategic Director 
– Enterprise, Community and Resources, advising of the 
intention to undertake a procurement exercise via a suitable 
framework in respect of the provision of a Waste, Water and 
Ancillary Services contract.

It was reported that since the deregulation of the 
water industry on 1 April 2017, United Utilities entered into a 
joint venture with Severn Trent Water to create ‘Water Plus’ 
which by default, had acted as the Council’s provider of 
waste, water and ancillary services ever since.

It was reported that the Yorkshire Purchasing 

Page 10



Organisation (YPO), the North East Procurement 
Organisation (NEPO) and Manchester Council all now had 
suitable frameworks in place, from which this service could 
be obtained.  It was noted that the only provider on each 
framework was ‘Wave’ who were the leading national water 
retailer and were formed from two established regional 
entities.  

Due to demonstrating excellent value in becoming the 
only provider on each of the above frameworks, as such it 
was the intention to award a contract to Wave via one of 
these frameworks, subject to the prices being competitive 
against costs over recent years, and a suitable term being 
available.  A minimum contract of 3 years with the option of 
a one-year extension was intended.  The report presented 
the likely costs of the contact over a 4-year period.

RESOLVED:  That Members note the intention to 
undertake a procurement exercise via a suitable framework 
in respect of the provision of a Waste, Water and Ancillary 
Services Contract, and subject to competitive prices and a 
suitable contact term being available, note intention to award 
a contract to ‘Wave’ as the sole provider on the various 
frameworks available.

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

EXB4 2020/21 FINANCIAL OUTTURN POSITION

The Board considered a report from the Operational 
Director – Finance, advising of the Council’s overall revenue 
and capital net spending outturn position for the year 
2020/21.

It was reported that the final accounts for 2020/21 
were nearing completion.  The revenue spending position for 
each Department was shown in Appendix one; which 
presented a summary of spending against the operational 
revenue budget; and Appendix two provided detailed figures 
for each individual Department.  In overall terms, the outturn 
position for the year showed that net spend was under the 
approved budget by £2.340m.   This was a significant 
improvement on the forecast overspend of £1.180m 
reported at the end of quarter 3.  The reasons for the 
improved financial position were presented in the report and 
the key budget variances for the quarter were noted in the 
following Departments:

 Children and Families;

Page 11



 Adult Social Care Department;
 Education, Inclusion and Provision;
 Public Health and Public Protection;
 Finance; and
 Policy, Planning and Transportation.

Members were also advised of the financial impact of 
Covid-19 and a summary of the general Government 
funding made available to the Council to date was outlined.  

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted.

Operational 
Director - Finance 

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 15 JULY 2021

CORPORATE SERVICES PORTFOLIO

EXB14 TAXI LICENSING - POLICY CHANGES RELATING TO 
TAXI DRIVERS MEDICALS

The Board received a report of the Strategic Director 
– Enterprise, Community and Resources, which presented 
amendments to the medical element of the Taxi Licensing 
Policy for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers, 
submitted by the Regulatory Committee.

Members were advised that on 30 June 2021, the 
Regulatory Committee considered an amendment to the 
medical element of the Taxi Licensing Policy for Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Drivers, as presented in Appendix 
1 of the report.  Over the past 3 years, licensed drivers and 
new applicants had encountered problems in obtaining the 
medical assessments, as explained in paragraph 3.3.  This 
was exacerbated since the pandemic as some medical 
centres had withdrawn the service altogether and NW 
Boroughs Healthcare NHS FT had yet to restart assessing 
drivers, which has led to a backlog.

It was reported that the Regulatory Committee had 
agreed the amendments at its meeting on 30 June, and 
recommended their approval at Executive Board.

RESOLVED:  That the Executive Board:

1) agree a minimum standard for 3rd party medical 
assessments;

2) delegate the authority of approving who can 

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

Page 12



undertake medical assessments in accordance with 
current policy to the Licensing Manager; and

3) allow a technical exemption for certain licence 
holders from having to undertake the same medical 
assessment twice.

EXB15 2021/22 - 2023/24 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

The Board considered a report from the Operational 
Director – Finance, which presented the Council’s total 
planned capital programme expenditure and associated 
funding over the next three years and requested that Council 
be recommended to approve the updated capital 
programme for 2021-24.  

It was reported that Council had approved the capital 
programme for 2021/22 at its meeting on 4 March 2021.  
Since then new capital grant allocations have been received 
and slippage to capital projects for 2020/21 had been rolled 
forward to 2021/22.  The report presented the planned 
capital programme expenditure for 2021/22 to 2023/24 in 
Table 1 for both Directorates; Table 2 summarised how the 
capital programme would be funded.

It was noted that the capital programme was subject 
to regular review and monitoring reports were presented to 
the Board on a quarterly basis.  These included the actual 
spend incurred to date and how this compared to the capital 
allocation for the year; a forecast was also provided to 
indicate if the capital programme would be utilised in full 
during the year, or if there was any expected slippage to 
capital schemes.

RESOLVED:  That

1) Council be recommended to approve the updated 
capital programme for 2021/24, including forecast 
spend and funding, as set out in Tables 1 and 2;

2) the Strategic Director – Enterprise, Community and 
Resources, in liaison with the Portfolio Holder for 
Environment and Urban Renewal, finalise the detailed 
implementation programme of Highways and 
Transportation schemes to be delivered in 2021/22.

Operational 
Director - Finance 

Page 13



EXB16 DIRECTORATE PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORTS - 
QUARTER 4 OF 2020/21

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director – Enterprise, Community and Resources, on 
progress against key objectives/milestones and performance 
targets for the fourth quarter period to 31 March 2021, for 
the People Directorate (Children and Young People and 
Adult Social Care and Health; and Enterprise, Community 
and Resources.

The Board was advised that the Directorate 
Performance Overview Report provided a strategic summary 
of key issues arising from the relevant quarter for each 
Directorate and was aligned to Council priorities or 
functional areas.  The Board noted that such information 
was key to the Council’s performance management 
arrangements and Executive Board had a key role in 
monitoring performance and strengthening accountability. 
Performance Management would continue to be important in 
the demonstration of value for money and strengthening 
accountability.

RESOLVED: That the report, progress and 
performance information be noted. 

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

Page 14



REPORT TO: Corporate Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 7 September 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, Enterprise, Community and 
Resources

PORTFOLIO: Resources

SUBJECT: Member Development Group Notes

WARDS: N/A

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To consider the notes of the Member Development Group held on 30 
January 2020.

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That the report be noted.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The notes of the last meetings of the Member Development Group are 
before CSPPB as stated in the Constitution.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS – None.

5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS – None.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton – None.

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton – None.

6.3 A Healthy Halton – None.

6.4 A Safer Halton – None.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal – None.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS – None.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES – None.

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
None.

Page 15 Agenda Item 5



Member Development Group

At a meeting of the Member Development Group held on 30th January 2020
at the Municipal Building, Kingsway, Widnes

Present: Councillors J. Stockton (Chairman), J. Abbott, J. Bradshaw, R. Gilligan,
P. Wallace and G. Zygadllo. 

Officers: K. Mackenzie and Alison Scott.

Apologies for absence:  Councillors C. Rowe, K. Wainwright and M. Wharton.

MDG6 NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The notes of the last meeting held on 26 September 2019 were 
approved as a correct record.

MDG7 REVIEW OF CURRENT PERFORMANCE AGAINST TARGETS

LOD2 – Number of Members with a Member Action Plan (MAP)

The Number of Members with a MAP to date since April 2019 was 55 of 
56, which remained unchanged.  New MAPs would be sent to newly 
elected Members for completion, following the election in May 2020.

KM

LOD3 – Percentage of Members attending at least one organised 
training event in the current financial year.

Since April 2019, 96% (54 of 56 Members) had attended at least one 
training and development event.  The target was 100% for the year 
2019-2020.

MDG8 LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT UPDATE

Briefing Sessions had been provided for Members:

A Local Government Finance Seminar would be arranged for later on 
in 2020 detailing policy changes.

One officer had volunteered to be a new Member Mentor for the 2020 
elections.  Any further officer or Member volunteers would be welcomed.  
On-line training was available that could be completed at the users 
convenience.

The 2020 New Member Induction Programme had been booked, and 
would be held on Wednesday 13 and Thursday 14 May 2020.

Operational Director responsibilities would be included in new 
member packs, and directorates would be asked to provide any useful 
information for the packs.

Information regarding e-learning would also be included.

KM

Page 16



Mindfulness taster session for Members:  As agreed at the last 
meeting, Alison Scott gave a brief taster session of Mindfulness and 
what members could expect by attending an in-house session.  The 
session was not complicated, and would focus on the positive effects on 
personal stress and anxiety that mindfulness could support.  
Mindfulness was not a treatment for mental health, but rather to support 
wellbeing with regular practice.

At the end of the twenty minute session, Members reported feeling 
peaceful, relaxed, calm and tranquil.

Members agreed the session should be open for all members to attend 
following the local election in May.

The group were reminded of a range of mobile apps that also offered 
mindfulness, such as 

www.headspace.com/headspace-meditation-app
www.calm.com
www.smilingmind.com.au

AS

MDG 9 ANY OTHER BUSINESS/MEMBER SUPPORT ISSUES

No other issues to report.

MDG 10 DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING

RESOLVED: The next meeting to be held after the local election in 
May 2020 at 5.30pm in the Willow Room.

The meeting closed at 6.35pm

Page 17

http://www.headspace.com/headspace-meditation-app
http://www.calm.com/
http://www.smilingmind.com.au/


REPORT TO: Corporate Policy & Performance Board

DATE: 7 September 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director – Enterprise, Community & 
Resources

PORTFOLIO: Resources

SUBJECT: Appeal Panel Arrangements

WARDS Borough Wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to invite Members to consider the 
arrangements for the operation & chairing of the Appeals Panel following 
the decision of the Council on 14 July 2021.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: 

2.1 That Members consider arrangements for the chairing and operation of the 
Appeals Panel, and that appropriate training is put in place for Members of 
this Board.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Members will recall that the Council on 14 July 2021 looked at the make 
up of the Appeals Panel following a recommendation of the Audit & 
Governance Board on 7 July. It was agreed that 3 Members of the Council 
would be asked to attend each individual hearing of the Panel as before, 
but that they would be drawn from the membership of this Board, rather 
than from a pool of members as previously. At the Audit & Governance 
Board meeting, it was suggested that arrangements for chairing hearings 
should be considered by this Board. The Council did not feel that there 
was a need to make any changes to the terms of reference of the Appeals 
Panel at this stage, but that would be kept under review. Members may 
feel that it would be appropriate for training to be put in place for members 
of this Board prior to being involved in hearings.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no specific implications in respect of Council policy.

Page 18 Agenda Item 6a



5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no specific implications. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton

There are no specific implications.

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton

There are no specific implications.

6.3 A Healthy Halton

There are no specific implications.

6.4 A Safer Halton

There are no specific implications.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal  

There are no specific implications.      

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

No risks have been identified which require control measures,

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

None.

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

No background papers have been used in the preparation of the report.

Page 19



REPORT TO: Corporate Policy & Performance Board

DATE:                                            7th September 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, Enterprise, Community &     
                                                      Resources

PORTFOLIO:  Corporate Services

SUBJECT: Widnes Market Update Report

WARDS:                                       Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update on 
Widnes Market, highlighting the investment which has gone into the 
Market in the recent past and outlining other initiatives which are 
contributing to the Markets current performance. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the report be noted

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Background

3.1 In October 2018 the management arrangements at Widnes Market were 
changed, whereby the responsibility for the Market was transferred from 
the Regeneration Team to Property Services Operations team.

3.2 This saw the creation of a new post, that of Technical Support & 
Property Manager, with the main responsibilities being the overall 
management of Widnes Market, along with the management of the 
Property Services Helpdesk team and responsible for the effective 
development and implementation of the Council’s accommodation plan.

3.3 Other posts were amended to reenergise the markets, and the market 
management team now consists of a Market Officer, Trader Liaison 
Officer, and a dedicated Promotion and Sales Officer.  All the staff now 
in post for these positions are new to the market and have brought a 
wealth of knowledge and experience which has enabled the market 
management team to go from strength to strength.  The team are 
supported by Attendants and Security, who all ensure the market and 
surrounding areas are kept clean and secure.

Page 20 Agenda Item 6b



Audit Reports

3.4 In February 2019 HBC’s Internal Audit carried out a report on Widnes 
Market in respect of the existing controls and measures in place, which 
provided an Adequate Assurance level with 7 priority issues, covering 
items such as fees and charges, stall occupancy, risk management, 
insurance, cash collection and new trader checks.  

3.5 Following this, the Market Protocols were updated and amended and 
approved by Executive Board on 11th April 2019, minute ref EXB121.

3.6 In February 2021 Internal Audit carried out a follow up report to assess 
how effectively the outstanding risks identified in the February 2019 
report had been addressed.  All 7 of the original priority issues had been 
addressed and a Substantial Assurance level was given.

Occupancy

3.7 At the time of the restructure in October 2018 the indoor market stall 
occupancy rate was 83%.

3.8 After the first lockdown in March 2020, only two indoor traders  and one 
outdoor trader chose not to return. Since then the market management 
team have actively encouraged new traders bringing in new and diverse 
commodities which will appeal to the public.

3.9 The stall occupancy rate now stands at 97%.  There are 185 stalls on 
the indoor market and there are currently 6 empty stalls, which hopefully 
will soon be let to more new and varied traders.

Arrears

3.10 There are currently no rent arrears for the outdoor market traders.  There 
is a small amount of arrears for the indoor market traders however these 
are being actively pursued by the Council’s Debtor team with payment 
plans in place to help the traders spread the payments over several 
months.

3.11 There are outstanding arrears for ex-traders, again these have payment 
plans in place and the debt is being reduced annually.

Page 21



Investments

3.12 Since 2018 there has been significant investment in Widnes Market, 
which started with the reroofing of the main market hall at a cost of just 
over £1,000,000, which was completed in 2019.

3.13 Since then over £489,000 has been spent on some much needed 
maintenance and improvement works to the market which has been 
carried out to enhance the overall appearance of the Market:-

 Replacement of evaporate cooling system £117,000
 Redecoration to entrance areas including high level 

painting, redecoration to all internal columns, toilet 
corridor areas

£12,000

 Redecoration and renewal of flooring to 1st floor 
corridor by traders toilets and store rooms

£28,000

 Redecoration to all outdoor market stalls steel 
stanchions 

£8,500

 Repainting of 2 ornate external lampposts, gates, 
railings and parking bollards

£4,500

 Replacement of outdoor gutters, downpipes and 
roofing panels 

£198,000

 Relocation and upgrade of all indoor market electrical 
distribution boards 

£62,000

 Replacement of 2 No. automatic doors £12,000
 Changing Places Facility £47,000

Community of Widnes Market

3.14 The main goal of the market management team is to make Widnes 
Market a community hub for the people of Halton, and surrounding 
areas.  Several new facilities and services have been added, or are in 
the process of completion, such as:-

3.15 Changing Places Facility - this facility is designed to be completely 
accessible and provide sufficient space and equipment for people with 
profound and multiple learning disabilities or with physical disabilities 
such as spinal injuries, muscular dystrophy and multiple sclerosis often 
need extra equipment and space to allow them to use the toilets safely 
and comfortably.   The room is designed to accommodate a user and up 
to two carers, plus mobility equipment. The room has facilities such as a 
specialist hoist, a rise and fall sink and an adult changing bench, all of 
which offer discreet toilet facilities to members of the public that may 
otherwise be deterred from visiting the market. This is one of only two of 
these facilities in a retail environment in Halton, and the only one in 
Widnes town centre.  

Page 22



3.16 Nursing Room/Quiet space - this is a great new area which offers 
parents the option to breastfeed, express or feed their baby in a private 
and comfortable area while visiting the market. The room will be 
registered with the Breastfeeding Network and also with local baby and 
toddler groups throughout Halton.  The room also acts as a quiet space 
for members of the public who live with autism and Asperger’s 
Syndrome. The room is private and will offer a relaxing setting that we 
will be registering with CHAPS (Cheshire Autism Practical Support) and 
other relevant authorities

3.17 Multi-Faith prayer room - we have relocated our multi-faith prayer room 
to a more discreet position, with the added benefit of the room now 
having a walled front and entrance door to preserve the privacy of the 
user. The room will be clearly signposted and will be available to all 
denominations on all trading days as a space for private prayers and 
reflection.

3.18 Water bottle refill point - a soon to be installed free facility for the 
community where they can refill water bottles, which will help to 
discourage the use of single use plastic bottles.  Once installed a 
promotion will be carried out giving away free reusable bottles to the 
shoppers with the market logo on.  The market will be the only place in 
Widnes town centre which will have a free water refill point.

3.19 Student Trading Days - following discussions with Bryan Doyle and 
Rebecca Moorhead of Riverside College and Cronton College regarding 
student trading days at Widnes Market, these days are proposed to be 
part of the curriculum of four different business studies courses. The 
plan is to allow monthly Thursday outdoor market trading to students to 
run a small business for a day, selling primarily hand-crafted products. 
On our part, we would equip all students with a ‘trading pack’ which 
would include a copy of market protocols, marketing materials, specimen 
copies of applications forms, a tenancy at will and a traders newsletter. 
This initiative is to be run in conjunction with both colleges, with the 
added ‘attention grabber’ of there being a competitive edge to the trading 
days for the students.  We are hoping to launch the programme in the 
next academic year of 2021-22.

3.20 Creative competitions at Widnes Market - Initial plans for 2021 
included 2 competitions that would use publicly submitted photography 
(‘Picture Halton’) and artwork (‘Creative Halton’). Both competitions 
would take place on separate occasions, in our public area, with display 
stands in place for 2 weeks, at the end of which it was hoped to have a 
college lecturer and the Mayor of Halton judge for prize winning 
submissions. The aim here is to be as inclusive as possible and appeal 
to all age groups in the community. This would offer both good PR and 
footfall as it appeals to a wide cross section in both entrants and 
viewers.  Due to the difficulties with social distancing, these events 
(previously scheduled for July and August) are currently on hold until 
such a time that we feel it is safe to conduct the event.

Page 23



3.21 Sunday Markets - the market management team have been working 
hard to arrange Sunday Markets at Widnes, and there are currently 3 
planned and if these prove to be successful more Sunday markets will 
be planned for 2022.  Sunday markets will not only increase the revenue 
potential for Widnes Market but also for our existing traders, and also to 
support local craft traders.

3.22 Sunday 5th September - Celebrate Music Halton
Widnes Market will be joining in with the celebrations for the Borough of 
Culture Music Weekender on Widnes Outdoor Market. There will be a 
wide range of musical acts, showcasing  the great array of cultural talent 
we have here in Halton.  We will also have food and drink available and 
some great  local traders. Doors open at 11am and it is free entry for the 
public so they can come along and see just some of the great acts on 
show at Widnes Market

3.23 Sunday 24th October - Autumn Craft Fair
Widnes Market will be holding an Autumn Craft Fair this October where 
there will be a wide variety of handmade and locally created goods.  
There will also be seasonal food and drink for sale throughout the day to 
make it an Autumn Sunday to  remember.  Entry to the fair is free.  With 
free parking for all our visitors it is hoped to attract people from all 
surrounding areas. 

3.24 Sunday 28th November - Christmas Craft Fair 
Widnes Market will be hosting a Christmas Craft Fair which will be the 
place to get unique hand crafted Christmas gifts for friends and family. 
There will be Christmas themed stalls, hand crafted and bespoke items, 
seasonal food and drink, free entry and free parking throughout the day 
and a great array of stalls that are sure to offer something for everyone. 

3.25 Food and Drink - the market management team have done some 
research and looked at the positives from other local markets such as 
Warrington and Altrincham which are both popular and successful due to 
a wide variety of food and drink. Therefore, we have been sourcing and 
encouraging new food and drink traders and we now have a great mix of 
food offerings to suit all tastes:-
 Sweetie Pies – A great breakfast, lunch and home delivery attraction 

for low income families and children, serving ice creams, pancakes, 
waffles and many more sweet treats.

 Fenn’s – A new, fully plant based café.  A great attraction for people 
to visit Halton and the market, a sign that Widnes market is unique 
and modern.

 Our existing Market Café and Koffee Korner are now able to 
diversify their own food/drink offer to meet the requests of their loyal 
customers who visit them daily.

 Redi Noodle bar – A Chinese/Indian takeaway offering noodles and 
rice boxes as well as other dishes.  A great option for local 
businesses to come in and grab a quick lunch on their dinner hour.

 Thai Style – A new Thai dine in restaurant offering authentic Thai 
Cuisine.

Page 24



 Robs Rolls – Our outdoor food truck offering a variety of breakfast 
and lunch deals.  Soon to have its own seating area in the outdoor 
market to encourage socialising and combat loneliness that many of 
our customers may suffer with. 

 Legally Blondies – Our new sweet treat trader introducing a younger, 
social media obsessed crowd to Widnes Market, offering everything 
from brownies to rocky roads to milkshakes.

3.26 Wednesday Market - the popular Flea and Collectors market was 
reopened on Wednesday 19th May, with all traders now being registered 
with full insurance.  The number of traders are increasing weekly, with 
traders coming from far afield such as North Wales.   There is always a 
unique and diverse selection of goods sold to interest customers.

3.27 Event Space /Charities - the Event Space in the indoor market is 
available free of charge for registered charities, such as Cancer Support 
UK, The Dogs Trust, Vision Support UK, where they can give help and 
support to members of the public.  In November 2020 the Royal British 
Legion used the space for 2 weeks to collect for the Poppy Appeal and 
have booked the space again for November 2021. 

COVID-19

3.28 Throughout each of the 3 lockdowns since 2020 the Widnes Market 
traders have been fully supported by the market management team and 
the Council.  All the indoor traders were eligible for the Business Support 
Grants and the outdoor traders for the Discretionary Grants and Retail 
Leisure and Hospitality Grants.  

3.29 During each lockdown no rent was charged to the traders, this was seen 
as an investment in the future of the market as it was quickly realised 
that if rent was charged during the lockdowns, regardless of any grants 
they could apply for, a lot of traders would give up their tenancy and we 
would be reopening with only half a market, and the other half having 
significant debt which they would never be able to repay.  As it was, after 
the first lockdown only 2 indoor traders and 1 outdoor trader choose not 
to return.  This enabled us to reopen the market with the majority of 
traders, and since then we have even increased our trader numbers.

Page 25



Advertising/Social Media 

3.30 The market management team actively encourage all traders to promote 
their business via all social media platforms.  We are living in a social 
media age where a lot of shoppers use these platforms to decide their 
shopping habits, and the markets own social media platforms are 
updated daily advertising the market and the goods which are available.

3.31 To complement  the social media advertising and to ensure that not just 
the population of Halton are aware of Widnes Market but also the 
surrounding areas, we also carry out regular adverts in local papers such 
as:-

 Full page advert in Widnes/Runcorn Weekly news 19th August 
and 26th August 2021.

 Quarter page advert in Widnes/Runcorn Weekly news 22nd and 
29th July.

 Quarter page advert Warrington Guardian, Knutsford Guardian, 
Northwich Guardian, Winsford Guardian 12th July 2021, which 
also included the RHS Flower Show special.

 Half page advert in Prime Northwest for 3 bi-monthly editions, 
August, October and December 2021

 Front page advert in Widnes/Runcorn Weekly news advertising 
Christmas 2020 on 10th and 17th December.

 Front page advert in Liverpool Echo advertising Christmas 2020 
on 4th December, 11th December, 13th December, 15th 
December.

Trader Representatives

3.32 Following on from suggestions by traders, we are in the process of all 
the market traders having the opportunity to nominate trader 
representatives, who will attend regular meetings with the market 
management team to put ideas forward, ask questions and cascade 
information back to traders, which will be followed up by written minutes.

3.33 The suggestion to have multiple trader representatives attend a regular 
meeting, does not mean the market management team are unavailable 
to discuss matters with traders on a daily basis.  The market 
management team will continue to support all traders and have an open 
office policy for anyone who feels they want to discuss matters privately.  

Page 26



The Future of Widnes Market

3.34 The main aim of the market management team is to ensure that Widnes 
Market remains at the heart of Widnes Town Centre.  Whilst maintaining 
a traditional market feel with some businesses and traders that have 
been with us for over 50 years, also welcoming new and unique traders 
to the market family.

3.35 Free parking in Widnes Town Centre is a big draw for the shoppers, as 
no other local town centre offers this in the area.

3.36 We want to give aspiring new traders the chance to try market life by 
using our “Pop-Up Stall” which is offered at a competitive daily rate, 
where they can trade for a short while giving their business the chance 
to grow, before they go on to become a full time trader.

3.37 Widnes Market is the place to shop, eat, socialise, a meeting place to 
form new friendships helping to combat loneliness, and inclusive for the 
whole community.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The market is run in accordance with the Council’s policies and 
procedures, in particular the Market Protocols, which consist of:-
Section 1 - Market Regulations
Section 2 - Contravention of the Regulations Procedures
Section 3 - Market Charging Policy

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Sections 3.12 and 3.13 of the report outline the capital investment that 
has been allocated to the markets in recent years.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton
        None

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton
        Encourage new traders to set up small businesses within Widnes 

Market, which will employ people.

6.3 A Healthy Halton
        None

Page 27



6.4 A Safer Halton
        None

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal
        A thriving market can contribute to urban renewal.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

There are no significant risks associated with the above course of action. 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

         None

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

 None under the meaning of the act

Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer

Page 28



REPORT TO: Corporate Policy and Performance Board 

DATE: 7 September 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director Enterprise, Community & 
Resources

SUBJECT: Performance Management Reports for 
Quarter 1 of 2021/22

WARDS: Boroughwide 

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To consider, and to raise any questions or points of clarification, in 
respect of performance management for the first quarter period to 30th 
June 2021. 

1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2021-22 were 
agreed by Members for the various functional areas reporting to the 
Board as detailed below:

 Finance
 Human Resources & Organisational Development
 ICT and Administrative Support
 Legal  and Democracy
 Policy & Performance
 Property Services  
 Catering, Stadium and Registration Services

The report details progress made against objectives and milestones and 
performance targets and provides information relating to key 
developments and emerging issues that have arisen during the period.

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That the Policy and Performance Board

1) Receive the first quarter performance management report; 

2) Consider the progress and performance information and raise 
any questions or points for clarification; and  

3) Highlight any areas of interest and/or concern where further 
information is to be reported at a future meeting of the Board. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7a



3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Departmental objectives provide a clear statement on what services are 
planning to achieve and to show how they contribute to the Council’s 
strategic priorities. Such information is central to the Council’s 
performance management arrangements and the Policy and 
Performance Board has a key role in monitoring performance and 
strengthening accountability.  

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no policy implications associated with this report. 

5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no other implications associated with this report.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Departmental service objectives and performance measures are linked 
to the delivery of the Council’s priorities.  The introduction of a Thematic 
Priority Based Report and the identification of business critical 
objectives/ milestones and performance indicators will further support 
organisational improvement. 

6.2 Although some objectives link specifically to one priority area, the nature 
of the cross - cutting activities being reported, means that to a greater or 
lesser extent a contribution is made to one or more of the Council 
priorities. 

7.0      RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 At the time at which Annual Business Plans are developed Directorate 
Risk Registers are also refreshed and updated. Progress concerning the 
implementation of any high risk mitigation measures which are relevant to 
the Board are included as Appendix 1 of the performance management 
report for the second quarter period.

8.0      EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1      Not applicable.

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTIONS 100D OF THE   
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
Not applicable

Page 30



Page 1 of 36

Reporting Period: Quarter 1 – 1st April 2021 to 30th June 2021

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report provides an overview of issues and progress against key service objectives/milestones and 
performance targets, during the first quarter of 2021 / 22 for service areas within the remit of the 
Corporate Policy and Performance Board.

1.2 It covers key priorities for development or improvement in the various functional areas reporting to the 
Board in relation to the Council’s priority of Corporate Effectiveness and Business Efficiency i.e.:

 Financial Services
 Human Resources, Organisational Development, Policy, Performance and Efficiency
 ICT Infrastructure
 Legal and Democracy
 Catering, Stadium and Registration Services
 Property Services 

1.3 The emergence of the global COVID19 pandemic early in 2020 has had a significant and unavoidable 
impact upon Council services the full extent of which is yet to become known. The Council, along with 
key partner agencies, has prioritised its resources upon mitigating the serious risks to public health, the 
protection of vulnerable residents, and the social cohesion of the local community. In developing 
appropriate responses to emerging national and local priorities this situation is likely to remain the case 
for the foreseeable future.

1.4 The way in which traffic light symbols have been used to reflect progress to date is explained within 
Section 8 of this report.

2.0 Key Developments

2.1 There have been a number of developments during the period which include:-

Financial Services

2.2 Benefits Division
Coronavirus Self-isolation Support Payment

On 28th September 2020 the Government introduced Self-isolation Support Payments whereby a payment of 
£500 will be made to those on low incomes, to support them if they cannot work during their self-isolation 
period and thereby suffer financial hardship. The Government has recently extended the scheme to end on 30th 
September 2021. At 30th June 2021 the table below shows the number of awards paid. Since 30th June 2021 the 
number of applications has risen considerably, which reflects the increased numbers of people testing positive 
for Covid19.

Corporate Policy and Performance Board– Priority Based Monitoring Report

Page 31



Page 2 of 36

Self-isolation Payment awards at 30th June 2021

SIP Awards Mandatory Discretionary 

Fund available £310,000 £239,999
No. of awards 457 204
Current spend £228,500 £102,000

Universal Credit Implementation

The Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) statistics indicate at June 2021 there were 16,277 people within 
Halton claiming Universal Credit. By way of providing context, in March 2020 there were 10,918 Halton 
residents claiming Universal Credit, and this illustrates the impact of Covid19.

Processing Times

At 30th June 2021 processing times for Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction were as follows: new claims 
15.51 days and changes in circumstances 16.75 days.

2.3 Revenues and Financial Management Division
2020/21 Financial Outturn and Statement of Accounts

The 2020/21 financial outturn position was reported to Executive Board on 17 June 2021. It reported net spend 
for the year was £2.340m below the approved budget. It also reported that Covid19 costs and loss of income 
for the year were fully funded from available Government grant. The reporting position is caveated by 2020/21 
being an extraordinary year in terms of what has driven the Council’s financial position as a result of the 
pandemic.

Work is underway on completing the Councils 2020/21 Statement of Accounts. The draft version of the 
Statement will be published on the Council’s website by Friday 30 July 2021, this will be followed by the audit 
of the accounts by Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Council Tax and Business Rate Collection

Council tax collection for the 1st quarter of the year is 27.89%, up 0.91% on this point last year and slightly down 
by 0.09% from that reported in 2019/20. Cash collection over the past quarter is £20.055m, this includes 
£0.790m collected in relation to previous year debts. 

Business rates collection for the year to 30 June 2021 is 28.52%, up 1.54% on this point last year but down by 
2.19% from that reported for the same period in 2019/20. Cash collected over the past quarter is £15.395m.

Collection for council tax and business rates over the remainder of the year remains difficult to forecast, given 
uncertainty as to how the national and local economy will recover during the next phase of the pandemic.

Breathing Space

From May 2021 the Debt Respite Scheme (Breathing Space) has provided someone in problem debt with the 
right to legal protections from their creditors. There are two types of breathing space: a standard breathing 
space and a mental health crisis breathing space. Since the start of the scheme the Council has received 88 
Breathing Space applications for debt totalling £0.200m as follows;

Council Tax – 54 applications, value of debt £0.130m

Page 32



Page 3 of 36

Housing Benefit – 3 applications, value of debt £0.026m

Mersey Gateway – 31 applications, value of debt £0.044m

Business Support Grants

The Business Rates team are currently finalising payments of the final round of Covid19 business support grants, 
titled the Business Support Re-Start Grant programme. Applications for the grant had to be submitted by 30 
June 2021 with final payments made no later than 30 July 2021. To date the Council has made payments to 611 
businesses with a total grant value of £4.212m.

Since the start of the pandemic in March 2020, the Team have administered over £25m in business support 
grant payments and awarded over £14m in business rate reliefs, to businesses across the Borough. 

2.4 Audit, Procurement & Operational Finance Division
Annual Governance Statement

As required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council’s Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
has been published on the Council’s website.  The draft AGS was formally reviewed and approved by the Audit 
and Governance Board at its meeting on 7 July 2021.  The document explains the processes and procedures in 
place to enable the Council to carry out its functions effectively and the changes made to the Council’s 
governance arrangements during 2020/21 as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The AGS is produced following a review of the Council's governance arrangements and  includes an action plan 
to address any significant governance issues identified.

Page 33



Page 4 of 36

Human Resources, Organisational Development, Policy, Performance and Efficiency

2.5 Recruitment

The Department has continued to support the wider Council in the response to COVID-19. HR services have 
supported the management of staffing scenarios related to absence, working practices, and restrictions. The 
resourcing of priority service activity (e.g. Public Health and Adult Care) has been an ongoing feature of the 
departments work. The Efficiency, Resourcing & Recruitment Service has come under significant pressure as a 
result of unprecedented demand for recruitment across the council, and schools. The graphic below shows the 
pattern of demand. In order to ensure that recruitment related to COVID-19 and / or the safeguarding of 
vulnerable individuals, it was agreed during the quarter that all recruitment related to social worker posts 
would be prioritised. Given the resources available, there is no scope to intensify activity to meet demand, 
instead some services will experience slower recruitment as the demand curve flattens out.

4/1/2021

4/8/2021

4/15/2021

4/22/2021

4/29/2021

5/6/2021

5/13/2021

5/20/2021

5/27/2021

6/3/2021

6/10/2021

6/17/2021

6/24/2021

7/1/2021

7/8/2021

7/15/2021

7/22/2021

7/29/2021

8/5/2021

8/12/2021

8/19/2021

8/26/2021
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

On Hold - Vacancies In Progress - Vacancies Schools - Vacancies

Number of Vacancies - April 2021 onwards

Staff in the department have continued to work remotely (since March 2020) and services are being delivered 
effectively. Virtual processes and procedures are in place to cover all necessary requirements. This will remain 
the case during the period following Step 4 of the Government’s ‘unlocking’ plan, in accordance with the 
decision taken corporately to maintain a cautious approach. 

2.6 Restructure

Following a restructuring exercise, a new Organisational Development & Performance Management Service 
goes live on 1st July. This sees the merging of these two business disciplines into one coherent service model 
that will connect business planning, performance monitoring, and Organisational Development under a single 
management line. The aim is to use performance information (both employee and service based) to inform the 
development of OD interventions and programmes, that will in turn enhance delivery against the key objectives 
set out in business plans and ultimately contribute to the delivery of the Council’s priorities..

Page 34



Page 5 of 36

2.7 The Policy Framework

The policy framework developed earlier in 2020 to enable the Council to safely return physical premises and 
work spaces to operation following the ‘lockdown’ between March and July 2020 and Nov – Dec 2020 has 
proved effective and was used to shape the risk assessments required to manage the reinstatement of some 
services as lockdown 3 was eased during the reporting quarter.

It was previously reported in Q4 of 2020/21 that the Council had considered its options around how employee 
capability, working practices, premises and technology can be combined to ensure an effective organisation for 
the future, and the basis of a structured ‘Future Work’ change programme had been developed. Given the 
issues around workplace management associated with the easing of lockdown, and the prevailing high 
prevalence of COVID cases in the community at large, this work remains held and will only commence once 
conditions permit..

2.8 Leadership and Management Framework (LMF)

Cohorts 1 & 2 of a new Leadership and Management Framework (LMF) programme for managers across the 
Council commenced in May 2021 with the Chief Executive presenting Management Team’s commitment and 
expectations at the launch event. Following the delivery of the first module, Leadership & Partnerships, a 
review took place that identified that merging the cohorts together would allow for greater diverse group work 
and would reduce costs. An evaluation of this will take place in quarter 2 to ensure the learning transfer was 
effective. Cohorts 2 & 3 are planned to start their programme in October 2021.

2.9 Face to Face Training Trial

The COVID Management Team Group approved the trial of COVID-secure face-to-face training for subject 
matter that can’t be delivered virtually due to the practical elements involved. The areas involved in the trial 
are First aid at Work qualification and Moving & Handling Training. The trial period will cease at the end of July, 
however, initial investigations indicate that this has been a success. A final review will take place and 
recommendation will be present to Management Team  for consideration.

2.10 E-Learning

As previously reported, uptake of e-learning has increased dramatically over the last 18 months. Within the 
quarter, 2678 modules have been completed, and a range of new e-learning provision has been developed to 
further expand the flexible offer;

• ILM- Leadership Styles & Theory
• ILM Emotional Intelligence
• Building Manager
• Updates to Corporate Induction module to include new leader information and Leadership & Management 

Framework 
• Asbestos Awareness
• Legionella Awareness
• Visual Impairment
• Future of Work modules: Transitioning back to the Workplace & Hygiene at Home and Away (awaiting 

confirmation to upload)

The Organisational Development (OD) Team inducted 9 newly elected members to the service on 13th May 
2021. The session introduced the e-learning platform, highlighting those new courses that may be relevant to 
members such as the Unconscious bias module. The OD Team is Working with Member Services to develop a 
more detailed training schedule for Elected Members to enhance the platform and offer other relevant content

Page 35



Page 6 of 36

ICT and Administration 

2.11 ICT and Support Services Restructure

In summary the process completed Sunday the 13th of June, the wider process has been extremely successful 
with a number of people gaining promotion into new positions and bringing a new dynamic and diversity into 
the departments that will further support the changes made to fit with new ways of working across the 
authority and the new technologies and systems in place.

2.12 Technical Perspective

The upgrade of key server software solutions to accommodate the redevelopment of the infrastructure that 
supports all desktop, telephony and server-based systems has taken place.

2.13 Schools Support

Levels of support into the schools for the delivery of on-line and on premise learning has been a focus and 
those requiring services have been supported within this area – some issues are still apparent with non-Halton 
SLA schools as their networking configurations are not capable of supporting some of the requirements. Help 
has been offered to those with issues.

2.14 One Stop Shops

One Stop Shops remained open during the National lockdown as they are seen as an essential service 
within Halton. Opening hours had been reduced over this quarter to allow the team to support the 
Contact Centre in managing inbound/outbound calls for COVID Support from Clinically Extremely 
Vulnerable (CEV) individuals.  

Catering, Stadium and Registration Services  

2.15 Stadium

The first wedding was held in over 12 months with restricted numbers and Covid guidelines in place.  It went 
very well, if a little different from the norm.  Future events are planned with fewer restrictions; we hope that 
future events will be more like the norm. We are receiving more enquiries now from people with existing 
bookings to finalise their plans.  We have also had some new weddings and birthdays booked with us.  

2.16 The PPE Hub

The PPE Hub continues, and is managed by the Health & Safety Team. A room on the ground floor has been 
assigned to the H&S team as a permanent PPE Hub.

2.17 Community Meals

An audit review is being carried out on Community Meals, this will help decide the future of Community Meals. 
HBC is the only council who provides a delivered hot meal in the Merseyside and Cheshire area.

2.19 School Meals

School Meals has continued to work during the pandemic.  We have had a number of partial school closures 
but have continued to provide FSM pupils with food hampers and packed lunches.  All schools are on the new 
SLA for 2021/22.  There are three types of SLA, Maintained schools, Academies and the Pilot Scheme.  

Page 36



Page 7 of 36

Legal and Democracy

2.20 Elections

The Local, Metro Mayor, PCC and Parish Council elections were all carried out very smoothly in Quarter 1.  
All new Halton Members received a full induction programme.
Council approved the revised Constitution in May.  
A return to face to face Council, Board and Committee meetings has been successfully implemented following 
the expiry of the legislation which permitted virtual meetings.
Annual Council appointed Cllr. Christopher Rowe as Mayor and Cllr Mark Dennett as Deputy Mayor.

Property Services

2.21 Millbrow Care Home- Proposed refurbishment

The proposed refurbishment works at Millbrow, at an estimated cost of £1.5m, have been on hold since the 
COVID-19 pandemic began. Adults Services are now looking again at their model of delivery and further 
feasibility works are being undertaken in respect of the service requirements going forward.

2.22 Proposed New Leisure Centre Moor Lane

The Pre Construction Services Delivery Agreement (PCSDA) stage has been completed. Planning approval is in 
place and the costs and timescales have been agreed, the project can’t commence on site however until the 
date of vacant possession is known and in respect of this there is an ongoing CPO process taking place.  A date 
has been set for the public enquiry which is 28th/29th September, subject to the successful outcome of the 
CPO, and the planning inspectorate confirming same in a timely manner we hope to be in a position to 
commence work on site by Spring/early summer 2022.

2.23 Education maintenance programme

The 2021/22 Education maintenance programme was approved by Council In March. The programme consists 
of 18 separate projects at a total cost of circa £1.36m. A significant number of the projects are due to 
commence in the summer holiday period, the remaining projects will then be carried throughout the 
remainder of the year and all should be completed by year end. 

2.24 Corporate Maintenance programme

The 2021/22 Corporate maintenance programme was approved by the AMWG in January. The programme 
consists of numerous projects which will be undertaken across the full year. Some smaller projects have been 
completed the majority of projects however are yet to be started on site, all the budget will be fully expended 
by year end however.

2.25 Mersey Gateway Handback Sites

A settlement deed is now in place, in respect of the remaining outstanding works on the handback sites, this 
has yet to be signed by all parties however due to some outstanding issues with United Utilities which are yet 
to be resolved. We have confirmed with Merseylink that once signed all sites will have been deemed to be 
handed back. Merseylink are currently carrying out some works on site B in Widnes, these being the making 
good works to C&T Garage following the demolition of Viking House. United Utilities have some works to 
complete on Site A, other than that any other necessary outstanding work will be completed by HBC using the 
funds set aside by the agreement.

Page 37



Page 8 of 36

2.26 Crow Wood Lane Supported living development

Design development work has been completed however the project has been put on hold whilst Adult Services 
consider other options.

2.27 71 High Street Runcorn- Refurbishment

Design work has been completed in respect of the refurbishment of this vacant commercial property in the 
Old Town, which has listed status.  Planning approval is in place and we are now in the process of obtaining 
competitive prices for the work, with the intention of tying this in to obtaining the approval of funding 
following which works will be able to commence on site.

2.28 Decarbonisation scheme- Halton Stadium

£1.3m has been secured from the Government’s decarbonisation fund for works at Halton Stadium. Design 
works are now complete and the quotes are in the process of being assessed. It is hoped works will start on 
site in summer however the project will not be completed by late September 2021 due to complications with 
the designs and the lead in time for materials, it is hoped works will be completed by year end however.

2.29 Brookvale Rec- Proposed Artificial Pitches 

Planning approval has now been obtained in respect of the above, and we are now awaiting confirmation 
from the football foundation in respect of the funding, this decision is expected around Sept/Oct. Once in 
place it is hoped works could commence on site later in the year.

2.30 Pickering Pastures- Proposed new pavilion building

A feasibility study is being undertaken in respect of the proposal to replace the existing ranger cabin building 
with a new pavilion type facility which would include a café area. It is intended that the feasibility will be 
completed by late September.

2.31 Broseley House- Demolition

Tenders have been received and a contractor selected in respect of the above. Works were due to commence 
on site in early July but have now been delayed due to Scottish Power Energy Networks not being able to 
confirm a date when the internal substation with be disconnected. The contract period is 8 weeks as such it is 
hoped that works will be completed this year, subject to Scottish Power.

2.32 Cavendish School- Internal remodelling

Internal remodelling works are due to commence on site in late July with a planned completion date of early 
September to tie in with the start of the Autumn term.  

2.33 Lunts Heath- Eco Classroom

The installation works to create a new Eco classroom are due to commence on site in late July with a planned 
completion date of early September to tie in with the start of the Autumn term.

2.34 Asset Management 

Broseley House – the final occupier vacated the property 30 June 2021 and the demolition works can be 
arranged. 

Page 38



Page 9 of 36

Carter House Way Widnes – the easement to Mulberry Homes was completed 9 July 2021 giving a capital 
receipt to the Council.

5 Granville Street, Runcorn – the tenant vacated the unit 19 June 2021 and marketing agents have been 
instructed to find another tenant

3.0 Emerging Issues

3.1 A number of emerging issues have been identified during the period that will impact upon the work of 
services including:-

Financial Services

3.2 Benefits 
Verify Earnings and Pensions Service: Introduction of Fluctuating Non-state Pension Alerts

On 23rd June 2021 the Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) introduced a new system whereby they will 
inform local authority Benefits Sections through an automated computer link, of changes to a claimant’s non-
state pension. This new DWP process is known as fluctuating non-state pension alerts, and will be for any 
changes over £3 per week compared to the previous payment received. The DWP consider that this will help 
local authorities identify more pension age fraud and error within the Housing Benefit system. 

3.3 Revenues and Financial Management Division
Medium Term Financial Strategy / Budget Development

The Budget Working Group (BWG) met on 17 June 2021 to consider development of the Council’s 2022/23 
budget. They agreed an approach for identifying budget savings for each department which will involve review 
meetings with the relevant Executive Board Portfolio Holder, working with the appropriate PPB Chair and 
Operational Director/Divisional Managers. The review meetings are now underway with the support of 
Financial Management. The aim is to report back to BWG in September 2021 with savings proposals, which will 
ultimately be presented to Council in December 2021 for approval. Ahead of this, work is underway in 
developing the Medium Term Financial Strategy which will be reported to Executive Board in November 2021.

3.4 Audit, Procurement & Operational Finance
Procurement

The Cabinet Office has published a new National Procurement Policy Statement (NPPS) setting out the strategic 
priorities for public procurement, and how contracting authorities can support their delivery.  The National 
Procurement Policy Statement asks that all contracting authorities have due regard to a set of national strategic 
priorities when exercising their functions relating to procurement.

The guidance focuses on three areas:

 Social value

The NPPS sets out national priority outcomes for social value. It places emphasis on creating new 
businesses, new jobs and new skills; tackling climate change and reducing waste, and improving 
supplier diversity, innovation and resilience, all themes within the social value model.

Page 39



Page 10 of 36

 Commercial and procurement delivery

The statement requires all contracting authorities to consider whether they have the right policies and 
processes in place to manage the key stages of commercial delivery it sets out, where relevant to their 
procurement portfolio.

 Skills and capability for procurement

The statement requires all contracting authorities to consider their organisational capability and 
capacity, with regard to the procurement skills and resources required to deliver value for money.

The Government intends to bring forward legislation to ensure that all contracting authorities are 
required to have regard to the National Procurement Policy Statement when undertaking 
procurements.

Human Resources, Organisational Development, Policy, Performance and Efficiency

3.5 Holiday Pay

Although replicating previous reports, there remains an absence of clear direction in legal terms on the matter 
of holiday pay resulting from voluntary overtime. Conflicting case-law still exists and legal cases remain pending 
in the UK legal system. As such, this remains on ongoing matter.

3.6 Public Sector Exit Payment Cap

During Q1, the Government unexpectedly revoked the legislation around the Public Sector Exit Payment Cap. 
That simplified matters for the moment, however it appeared clear that Government would be returning to 
consider different measures to achieve the same aim. It has now become clear that a new scheme is being 
brought forward – government will consult on measures to restrict “Special Severance Payments’ during July / 
August, which will likely bring about a regulatory framework that will limit severance payments in a wide range 
of scenarios. Whilst the rationale for this has logic, the consequence of it is that restructuring proposals will 
ultimately be more difficult to progress, and as these regulations will make voluntary redundancy less 
attractive, the likelihood of compulsory redundancies increases. Once the regulations are confirmed, the 
Council’s Staffing Protocol will need to be redrafted, negotiated with the joint Trade Unions, and submitted to 
the Council’s Appointments Committee for approval.   

3.7 Agency Workers 

The continual need to engage agency workers to meet increased service demand in areas such as adult social 
care has been highlighted in previous reports, and the situation continues. The HR service is supporting a 
restructuring exercise in two of the Council’s care homes, with an implementation date of November 2021. It 
is likely however that after conclusion of the process, vacancies will remain. Nursing vacancies in particular are 
proving challenging to fill at the current time. With repeated recruitment attempts producing very few (or no) 
applicants. HR colleagues are currently considering what options can be considered to address this matter.

3.8 Senior Team

Over the summer of 2021, three of the Council’s senior team are retiring (Director of Public Health, and 2 
Operational Directors). The Efficiency, Recruitment & Resourcing Service will support the senior recruitment 
processes required to appoint suitable candidates. The labour market for such posts is not easy, and the impact 
of austerity on the Councils structures limits succession planning to some extent, however all efforts will be 
made to appoint to these positions and maintain a robust and effective leadership group..

Page 40



Page 11 of 36

ICT and Administration

3.9 Halton Cloud

The development of the Halton Cloud environment continues with the integration of external systems and 
services within this in-house platform. The integration of Office 365 continues at a pace bringing with it new 
challenges for corporate telephony and the delivery of a contact centre solution that will compliment these 
developments.

Legal and Democracy

3.10 Code of Conduct

Council will receive reports in July asking it to approve a revised Code of Conduct for Members, and some 
changes to the Committee Structure.

Training on the new Code, if adopted, will be provided for all Members in September.

There have been a number of staff changes in key areas in the Department.  The ongoing challenge is to recruit 
the right people and bring them into the team as efficiently as possible.

Property Services

3.11 Carbon emission targets

Government have brought into law a new carbon emissions reduction target of a 78% reduction over 1990 
levels by 2035.  This brings forward the previous target and will have the effect of speeding up the need to 
switch away from fossil fuels to heat and provide hot water to our buildings and move to electrically run heat 
pumps.  Funding is being made available via the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme for such works, from 
which we have already secured £1.3m for works to Halton Stadium, hence we now need to assess our buildings 
to establish where further works could be undertaken to help meet this agenda.

3.12 Agile working agenda

COVID-19 has necessitated the need for home working which in the main has proved successful and quite 
popular. This shift in working arrangements has presented us with the opportunity to embrace more flexible 
working arrangements on a more permanent basis in the future once the pandemic is over. This in turn could 
enable us to make better and more cost effective use of our accommodation and potentially enable us to vacate 
space and generate more income from renting that space out to other organisations.

3.13 Ventilation guidance for safe use of buildings

As a result of the COVID pandemic new guidance has been issued in respect of the importance of ventilation 
within buildings, as a result over the coming months we will be assessing if any additional ventilation is required 
within our buildings to ensure they fit for purpose.

Page 41



Page 12 of 36

4.0 High Priority Equality Actions

4.1 Equality issues continue to form a routine element of the Council’s business planning and operational 
decision making processes. Additionally the Council must have evidence to demonstrate compliance with 
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which came into force in April 2011. 

4.2 The Councils latest annual progress report in relation to the achievement of its equality objectives is 
published on the Council website and is available via:

http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx

5.0 Performance Overview

5.1 The following information provides a synopsis of progress for both milestones and performance 
indicators across the key business areas that have been identified by the Directorate.

5.2 It should be noted that given the significant and unrelenting downward financial pressures faced by the 
Council there is a requirement for Departments to make continuous in-year adjustments to the allocation 
of resources in order to ensure that the Council maintains a balanced budget. 

5.3 Whilst every effort continues to be made to minimise any negative impact of such arrangements upon 
service delivery they may inevitably result in a delay in the delivery of some of the objectives and targets 
contained within this report.

Financial Management

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q1
Progress

FS 01a Report 2022-25 Medium Term Financial Strategy to Executive Board - 
November 2021.

FS 01b Report 2022/23 revenue budget, capital programme and council tax to Council 
- March 2022.

FS 02c Provide quarterly monitoring and forecasting reports on the overall budget to 
Executive Board.

FS 03a Publish the Statement of Accounts following external audit and the Annual 
Governance Statement by 30th September 2021.

FS 04a Establish Treasury Management Policy and report to Council - March 2021.

FS04b Provide monitoring reports to Executive Board on a bi-annual basis.

FS 05a Establish and report prudential indicators to Council - March 2021.

Page 42

http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx


Page 13 of 36

Supporting Commentary

On target to report the Medium Term Financial Strategy to Executive Board in November 2021. The financial 
forecast is being regularly updated. Work has commenced with Management Team and Budget Working 
Group to develop budget proposals for 2022/23. Reports all issued on schedule to date.

Quarter 1 monitoring report on the overall budget will go to Executive Board on 16 September 2021.

It is uncertain whether the accounts will be published on time due to a potential delay in receiving an external 
audit opinion, given resource difficulties being experienced by Grant Thornton.

Key Performance Indicators
 

Ref Measure 20 / 21 
Actual

21 / 22 
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction of 
travel 

FS LI 01 Receive an unqualified external 
audit opinion on the accounts.

Awaited Yes Awaited n/a

FS LI 02 Receive positive comment 
(annually) from the External 
Auditor relating to the financial 
standing of the Council and the 
systems of internal financial 
control.

Awaited Yes Awaited n/a

FS LI 03 Proportion of Council Tax that was 
due that was collected

94.14% 94.25% 27.89%

FS LI 04 The percentage of Business Rates 
which should have been received 
during the year that were received

96.18% 97.50% 28.52%

FS LI 05 Average time for processing new 
claims (Housing Benefit & Council 
Tax Reduction)

16.22 18 15.51

FS LI 07 Proportion of all supplier invoices 
paid within 30 days (including 
disputed invoices)

92.6% 93.0% 93.1%

Supporting Commentary
The External Auditor is not expected to provide audit opinion until November 2021 at the earliest

The External Auditor is not expected to provide a conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources until November 2021 at the earliest

FS LI 03 is up by 0.91% compared with the same point last year but marginally down by 0.09% from 2019/20. 
There remains uncertainty on council tax levels for the remainder of the year pending the national and local 
economic recovery to the pandemic.

FS LI 04 is up by 1.54% compared with the same point last year but down by 2.19% from 2019/20. There 
remain uncertainty on business rate levels for the remainder of the year pending the national and local 
economic recovery to the pandemic.

Page 43



Page 14 of 36

Since March 2021 large volumes of Universal Credit ATLAS transactions have been received from the DWP 
to process. Since the beginning of July the Benefits processing team has prioritised changes in 
circumstances. It is anticipated at Q2 the changes in circumstances figure will be much improved.

Policy, People, Performance & Efficiency Service

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q1
Progress

PPPE 01a Promote and take forward the delivery of actions identified within the 
Organisational Development Strategy  May 2019

PPPE 01d Full implementation of Leadership and Management Development 
Programme September 2021.

PPPE 02b Establish 20 new existing employee apprenticeships to enable up-skilling in a 
range of business areas, compliant with the requirements of apprenticeship 
legislation March 2022

PPPE 04b Implement resourcing plans with service management in appropriate areas 
December 2021.

PPPE 04c Ongoing monitoring of agency usage and spend April, September, December 
2021, and March 2022.

Supporting Commentary

PPPE 01a is progressing well. Some examples given in this report (refer to Key Developments) and the new 
Organisational Development & Performance Management structure above will support this further.

The Leadership & Development Framework delivery is in place and has commenced (refer to Key 
Developments)

Key Performance Indicators
 

Ref Measure 20 / 21 
Actual

21 / 22 
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction 
of travel 

PPPE LI 
01

The number of working days / 
shifts lost due to sickness 
(Corporate) 

10.02 9.5
(Days)

2.56
(Days)

PPPE LI 
03

Percentage of Employees without 
sickness

73.74 70.00 87.49

PPPE LI 
07

Total Agency Worker Cost  (gross 
cumulative cost – year to date)

£3.7m £2.5m £1.04m

Page 44



Page 15 of 36

Ref Measure 20 / 21 
Actual

21 / 22 
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction 
of travel 

The percentage of top 5% of earners that are: 1 
a) Women 63.19% 55% 63.37%

b) from BME communities 2.78% 2.00% 2.63%

PPPE LI 
10 

c) with a disability 0.89% 8.00% 1.22%

PPPE LI 
13

Average time to recruit (Applicant 
Tracking System reported figure)

11
Days

13
Days

11.5
Days

Supporting Commentary

PPPE LI 01 Figure largely as expected at this stage in year. Limited COVID impact during quarter.

PPPE LI 06 Q1 outturn suggests target likely to be missed. Associated narrative included in Emerging Issues 
section above.

PPPE LI 07 Q1 outturn suggests target likely to be missed. Associated narrative included in Emerging Issues 
section above.

PPPE LI 10 Positive movement on component indicator (a), which follows improvement in 2020/21.   

Fluctuation exists in (b) and (c), due to turnover.  

It should be noted that recruitment in to the top 5% of earners is generally very limited, and as such scope 
for significant change is low, however as noted in Emerging Issues above there are 3 senior recruitments 
taking pace over the summer.

PPPE LI 13 Positive outturn, particularly in context of increased demand.

ICT and Administrative Support Services

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q1
Progress

ICT 01a Continued Enhancement of the virtualization platform to enhanced or new 
technologies - March 2022.

ICT 01b Further development of Cloud Services Platform - March 2022.

ICT 01c SharePoint and Records Management enhancements - March 2022.

1 Performance targets for these measures take account of local demographic profiles

Page 45



Page 16 of 36

Ref Milestones Q1
Progress

ICT 01d Interactive Web Services Enhancement and further SharePoint Integration - 
March 2022.

ICT 02a Continuing improvements, enhancements and commercial use of Cloud 
system - March 2022.

Supporting Commentary
Enhancements to the Halton Cloud platform continues at pace with the integration of Vendor cloud based 
systems and services within our own platform. Enhancement planned in line with vendor software release 
to enhance functionality and the user experience

Key Performance Indicators
 

Ref Measure 20 / 21
Actual

21 / 22
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction of 
travel 

ICT LI01 Average availability of the 
Council’s operational servers 
(%).

99.98 99.00 99%

ICT LI02 Average availability of the 
Councils WAN infrastructure 
(%).

97.97 99.00 100%

School Support SLA:  % of calls 
responded to within agreed 
target*:

a) Priority 1 100 85.00 85%

b) Priority 2 100 90.00 90%

c) Priority 3 100 90.00 95%

ICT LI03

d) Priority 4 100 95.00 95%

Supporting Commentary
 
ICT LI01 Remains in line with target, linked to Halton Cloud Data Centre configuration. A real achievement 
given the considerable levels of work undertaken over this period mainly out of hours.

ICT LI02 Remains in line with target. Inclusive of planned down time. Especially during these times when 
connectivity to the centre is key.

ICT LI03 This has been an unusual time with schools impacted by the pandemic and the support required 
changing on a daily basis with issues also changing on a daily basis. The move to online learning has now 
impacted the schools especially those that would not upgrade their data connections due to cost, again the 
Schools and importantly the Corporate teams have worked hard to support any issues that may arise.

Page 46



Page 17 of 36

Legal & Democracy

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q1
Progress

LD 01 Review constitution - May 2021.

LD 02a To ensure that all members have been given the opportunity of a having a 
Member Action Plan meeting where desired.

LD 02b To induct all new members by October 2020.

Supporting Commentary

The revised Constitution has been approved

All Members will be offered a Member Action Plan meeting.

All new Members have been inducted.

Key Performance Indicators
 

Ref Measure 20 /21 
Actual

21 / 22 
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction 
of travel 

LD LI 01 No. Of Members with Personal 
Development Plans (PDP) (56 
Total).

56
(100%)

54 48
(89%)

LD LI 03 Average Time taken to issue 
prosecutions from receipt of full 
instructions (working days).

10
(Days)

10
(Days)

10
(Days)

LD LI 04 Average time taken to file 
application for Care proceedings 
at Court from receipt of all 
written evidence from client 
department (working days).

3
(Days)

3
(Days)

3
(Days)

LD LI 05 % of Executive Board minutes 
published within 5 working days 
after the meeting.

100% 100% 100%

Supporting Commentary

All 9 new Members have now been offered a Personal Development Plan (PDP). All 45 existing Members will 
also be offered a PDP review.

All 54 Members are offered a blend of face to face and eLearning packages as part of the Member 
Development Programme.  Training on the new Code of Conduct will be provided for all Members in 
September.

Page 47



Page 18 of 36

Community & Environment

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q2
Progress

CE 0 1a Deliver a promotion and educational campaign (school meals) - September 2021 and 
January 2022.

Key Performance Indicators
 

Ref Measure 20 / 21 
Actual

21 / 22
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction 
of travel 

CE LI 01 % Take up of free school meals 
to those who are eligible - 
Primary Schools.

Data 
unavailable

75% 72.15%

CE LI 02 % Take up of free school meals 
to those who are eligible - 
Secondary Schools.

Data 
unavailable

60% 45.21%

CE LI 03 Take up of school lunches (%) – 
primary schools.

Data 
unavailable

60% 55.43% N/A

CE LI 04 Take up of school lunches (%) – 
secondary schools.

Data 
unavailable

50% 30.61% N/A

Supporting Commentary

Planned marketing campaign for September ready for the new children in primary and secondary education

Property Services

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q1
Progress

EEP 02a Proposed new Leisure Centre, Moor Lane- Commence works on site by 31st March 
2022

EEP 02b Crow Wood Lane, Assisted residential development- commence on site by 31st 
December 2021

EEP 02c Deliver agreed programmed maintenance programme to Corporate Buildings by 31st 
March 2022.

EEP02d Deliver agreed programmed maintenance programme to schools by 31st March 2022.

EEP 02e Deliver agreed decarbonisation works to Stadium by 31st December 2021.

Page 48



Page 19 of 36

Supporting Commentary

The Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) process is ongoing, the public enquiry date is set for 28th/29th 
September, subject to a successful outcome, it may be feasible to commence works on site by March next 
year however it will be dependent on when the planning inspectorate confirms the decision, and the date 
by which vacant possession can be obtained. 

The project has currently been put on hold by the client team which they consider other options.

There are numerous projects on the programmed maintenance list. They are all at different stages, however 
it is anticipated that the available budget will be fully expended by year end.
There are 13 separate projects within the programme of works this year. All projects are progressing with a 
view to getting the majority of the projects on site over the summer holiday period. It is anticipated that all 
projects will be completed by year end.

Final costs are still awaited on the mechanical element of the project, once obtained it is hoped we will be 
progressing with the work. Some materials are now on very long order periods so the original programme  
will have to be amended and completion will be dependant of final delivery dates.

Key Performance Indicators
 

Ref Measure 20 / 21 
Actual

21 / 22 
Target

Q1
Actual 

Q1
Progress

Direction 
of travel 

EEP LI 01 Greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions indicator (Tonnes 
CO2e).

11354 11240 9,770

EEP LI 02 Capital receipts £614,532,
82% of the 

target 
achieved

£1.5m based 
on an estimate 
for the amount 
and timing of  
receipts as at 

20/5/2021

N/A

EEP LI 03 Commercial and investment 
portfolio – rent receivable 
against the budget to monitor 
receipt of income of rents and 
service charges.

Investment
£39,325

Commercial
£319,573

Investment
£44,740

Commercial
£609,270

Investment
£8,764

Commercial
£87,155

EEP LI 04 Occupancy rates of 
commercial and investment 
portfolio.

100 %
Investment 

90% 
commercial 

100 %
Investment 

90% 
commercial

100 %
Investment 

95% 
commercial

EEP LI 05 Occupancy of Widnes Market 
Hall.

93% 94% 96%

EEP LI 06 Unit Costs – office 
accommodation space 
(reported annually).

1069sqm 1058sqm n/a

Supporting Commentary

CO2 emissions for 2019/20 amounted to 11,354 tonnes. The emissions for 2020/21 were 9,770 tonnes 
which equates to a 13.9% overall reduction. Energy consumption in buildings actually fell by 7.6%, but 
with reductions in each of the other sectors together with a reduction in the kw/h-CO2 conversion factor 

Page 49



Page 20 of 36

due to the increasing mix of renewal energy being generated the overall CO2 emissions have reduced by 
almost 14%.

EEP L1 02 No completions during Q1, transactions underway  of Linner Cottage and outbuildings and  yard, 
Widnes;  67 Edinburgh Road Widnes ; 4/5 Dock Road Widnes; land Croft St Widnes is a new lease.

COVID has had a significant impact on CO2 emissions this year with reductions across all sectors. Clearly 
the majority of staff have been homeworking and many buildings were closed for a period of time during 
lockdown. Fleet transport and business mileage were also significantly down due to homeworking.

The breakdown is as follows:- School Buildings 2798t, Corporate buildings 4385t, Unmetered supply 1502t, 
Fleet Transport 937t, & Business Mileage 148t. The target for 2021/22 has been set at 9672 tonnes CO2e, 
a 1% reduction, this will be difficult to achieve given the very unusual circumstances in 2020/21 as a result 
of COVID.

The annual figure for this indicator is a year behind and therefore only reported in the following year.

The income received has been affected by request from a number of occupiers for further rent holidays 
and non-payment of rent due to covid situation. Asset management are working with colleagues in income 
recovery. The tenant of no 5 Granville Street has vacated and the unit will be marketed. Other vacant units 
are, 6 Church Street Runcorn, former Frankie and Bennies unit at the Hive. It is unlikely that the units will 
be re-let until Q3. It is uncertain whether the income target will be achieved by Q4

There are 8 vacant properties which will be on the market or unable to market until refurbishment works 
eg 71 High St Runcorn  or clarifying planning status eg the former bus depot Moor Lane Widnes have been 
completed. 

Occupancy levels have increased over the past 12 months during lockdown and reached 93% at year end. 
At present this has increased to 96% which is up on the same period last year.

EEP LI 06 indicator can only be measured on an annual basis as such it is not possible to give figures on a 
quarterly basis.

Page 50



Page 21 of 36

7.0 Financial Statements

 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT; Revenue Budget as at 30th June 2021

Annual 
Budget

Budget to 
Date

Actual Variance 
(Overspend)

Forecast 
Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
Employees 5,641 1,347 1,362 (15) (59)
Supplies & Services 338 203 194 9 67
Insurances 1,081 520 514 6 23
Concessionary Travel 2,108 0 0 0 398
LCR Levy 2,241 2,241 2,241 0 0
Rent Allowances 35,500 6,923 6,923 0 0
Non HRA Rebates 70 18 18 0 0
Disrectionary Housing Payments 528 85 85 0 0
Disrectionary Social Fund 106 59 59 0 0
Bad Debt Provision 0 0 0 0 (89)
Total Expenditure 47,613 11,396 11,396 0 340

Income
Fees & Charges -254 -81 -77 (4) (16)
SLA to Schools -269 0 0 0 (3)
Business Rates Administration Grant -154 0 0 0 0
Hsg Ben Administration Grant -495 -124 -124 0 0
Rent Allowances -35,500 -6,829 -6,719 (110) (439)
New Burdens Grant -59 -59 -256 197 197
Council Tax Admin Grant -204 -204 -216 12 12
Non HRA Rent Rebates -70 -33 -33 0 0
Reimbursements & Other Grants -90 -58 -63 5 18
Liability Orders -406 -235 -235 0 0
Transfer from Reserves -46 -42 -42 0 0
Discretionary Housing Payments Grant -528 -146 -146 0 0
Dedicated School Grant -106 0 0 0 0
Universal Credits -6 -6 -6 0 0
VEP Grant 0 0 -10 10 9
CCG McMillan Reimbursement -80 0 0 0 2
LCR Reimbursement -2,241 -2,241 -2,241 0 0
Total Income -40,508 -10,058 -10,168 110 (220)

Net Operational Expenditure 7,105 1,338 1,228 110 120

Covid Costs
Rent Allowance 0 0 27 (27) (242)
Covid Isolation Grant 0 0 33 (33) (256)
Supplies & Services 0 0 4 (4) (4)
Covid Loss of Income
Reimbursements & Other Grants -3 0 0 0 (3)
Covid Income
Covid Isolation Grant 0 0 -33 33 256
Government Grant Income 0 0 -31 31 249
Net Covid Expenditure -3 0 0 0 0

Recharges
Premises Support 240 60 60 0 0
Central Support 2,316 579 579 0 0
Recharge Income -5,437 -1,359 -1,359 0 0
Net Total Recharges -2,881 -720 -720 0 0

Net Departmental Expenditure 4,221 618 508 110 120

Page 51



Page 22 of 36

Comments on the above figures

In overall terms revenue spending at the end of quarter 1 is under budget by £0.110m with the forecast 
outturn for the year estimates net spend to be £0.120m below the approved budget. 

Employee net costs is projected to over the approved budget due to the staff turnover saving target not being 
fully achieved, projections are based on vacancies within the department being filled and the restructure of 
the Procurement team being completed. The forecast outturn is therefore variable dependant on when these 
changes come into effect. 

The staffing budget is based on 154 full time equivalents.

Concessionary travel is projecting a large underspend due to the impact of Halton Transport being no longer 
in operation following liquidation and reduced passenger numbers as a result of pandemic

Bad Debt provision relates to estimate of possible increases in non-payment of benefit overpayments in this 
financial year.

Rent Allowance income is showing a significant shortfall. This is because there has been an increase in the costs 
of supported accommodation. The Council is only allowed to claim 100% supported accommodation costs up 
to a level agreed by the Valuation Office Agency. Costs above this level the Council is restricted to claiming only 
60% with the balance a cost to the Council. Supported accommodation costs have increased significantly over 
the past couple of years.
 
New Burdens Grant income is showing overachievement against budget as the Council has received addition 
allocations in relation to administering and delivering the Covid business support grant scheme.

Covid costs in relation to Rent Allowance are for costs re Columba Hall and Grange Way Court. These house 
homeless people and the Council is restricted as to the amount of monies which can be claimed re housing 
subsidy on temporary accommodation. Hence these is projected to be a significant shortfall. As the 
accommodation is as direct result of Covid pandemic these costs have been supported from the general Covid 
grant.

Covid Isolation Grant covers financial support for members of the public who have to isolate. Projection on 
spend relates to the amount of grant the Council has been given as it is not possible to project claims. 
Expenditure and income net to nil as it is likely any underspend of main grant would have to be returned to 
Government.

Page 52



Page 23 of 36

POLICY, PEOPLE, PERFORMANCE & EFFICIENCY DEPARTMENT

Revenue Budget as at June 30th 2021

Annual 
Budget

Budget to 
Date

Actual Variance 
(Overspend)

Forecast 
Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
Employees 2,068 492 464 28 111
Employee Training 126 39 34 5 18
Supplies & Services 139 56 58 (2) (11)
Apprenticeship Levy 300 75 73 2 8
Total Expenditure 2,633 662 629 33 126

Income
Fees & Charges -104 -21 -29 8 24
Reimbursement and Other Grants 0 0 -2 2 2
School SLAs -464 0 0 0 (67)
Total Income -568 -21 -31 10 (41)

Net Operational Expenditure 2,065 641 598 43 85

Covid Costs
Employees 0 0 0 0 24
Government Grant Income
Government Grant Income 0 0 0 0 (24)
Net Covid Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0

Recharges
Premises Support 68 17 17 0 0
Central Support 917 229 229 0 0
Recharge Income -2,855 -713 -713 0 0
Net Total Recharges -1,870 -467 -467 0 0

Net Departmental Expenditure 195 174 131 43 85

Comments on the above figures

At the end of the first Quarter, Policy, Performance, People and Efficiency net spend is below the budget profile 
by £0.043m.

Employee expenditure is below budget. The majority of this is in relation to the apprentice budget as there are 
only a few apprentices in post. The outturn position is however likely to change as the number of apprentices is 
likely to increase. There is also a proposed restructure with the department which could impact on the final 
outturn position. 

The staffing budget is based on 44.7 full time equivalents.

The schools SLA income is projected to significantly underachieve against budget. The existing charges to schools 
are based on staffing numbers and a reduction in staffing has subsequently reduced the income achieved. 

 The shortfall in schools SLA income is slightly offset by Fees and Charges income which is projected to 
overachieve mainly due to charges to Academy schools for HR and payroll services. Covid expenditure projection 
is in relation to an agency post within Employment Relations to cover additional work as a result of the pandemic 

Page 53



Page 24 of 36

ICT and Administration

Revenue Budget as at 30th June 2021

Annual 
Budget

Budget to 
Date

Actual Variance 
(Overspend)

Forecast 
Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
Employees 6,873 1,779 1,797 (18) (73)
Supplies & Services 976 197 150 47 187
Computer Repairs & Software 1,167 931 940 (9) (37)
Communications Costs 17 8 9 (1) (5)
Other Premises 65 51 53 (2) (26)
Capital Financing 78 0 0 0 18
Transport Expenditure 3 0 0 0 0
Transfers to Reserves 15 0 0 0 15
Total Expenditure 9,194 2,966 2,949 17 79

Income
Fees & Charges -612 -117 -128 11 45
SLA to Schools -554 -56 -62 6 25
Transfer from Reserves 0 0 0 0 0
Total Income -1,166 -173 -190 17 70

Net Operational Expenditure 8,028 2,793 2,759 34 149

Covid Costs
Supplies & Services 0 0 11 (11) (11)
Capital Costs 0 0 7 (7) (7)
Government Grant Income
General Covid Funding 0 0 -18 18 18
Net Covid Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0

Recharges
Premises Support 362 90 90 0 0
Transport Support 20 5 5 0 0
Central Support 1,019 254 254 0 0
Asset Rental Support 1,494 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income -11,745 -2,936 -2,936 0 0
Net Total Recharges -8,850 -2,587 -2,587 0 0

Net Departmental Expenditure -822 206 172 34 149

Comments on the above figures

In overall terms spending is below the budget profile at the end of the first quarter. The current forecast is for 
the department to be under the approved budget at the end of the year.

Employee’s costs are currently exceeding the approved budget, however a restructure has just been 
implemented to the ICT Department and the projections could change once these details are applied. 
Similarly projections for the Admin staff are based on existing staffing levels, as Admin staffing is changeable 
throughout the year this could have effect on future outturn.

Supplies and services costs underspend is in relation to savings within all divisions. Within the Admin Division 
costs have been reduced across all supplies and services due to Covid and staff working from home. 
Dependant on the progression of the Covid pandemic and restrictions these costs could change. 

Computer repairs and software and communication costs are based on historical spend and will projected 
more accurately for quarter 2 once projections confirmed with managers.

Fees and charges income budget relates to external client income for traded services. This is for Agresso 
implementation and continued support. 

Page 54



Page 25 of 36

Capital Projects as at 30th June  2021

Capital Expenditure
2020/21 
Capital 

Allocation
£’000

Allocation 
to Date

£’000

Actual 
Spend

 
£’000

Total 
Allocation 
Remaining

£’000

ICT Rolling Capital Programme 700 193 193 507
Covid IT Capital Costs 0 0 46 (46)

Total Capital Expenditure 700 193             239 461

Comments on the above figures.

With regard to the Covid related costs which relate to equipment etc to enable working from home, the 
decision was made to capitalise these costs.

Page 55



Page 26 of 36

LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES DEPARTMENT

Revenue Budget as at 30th June 2021

Annual 
Budget

Budget to 
Date

Actual Variance 
(Overspend)

Forecast 
Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
Employees 1,796 505 505 0 (2)
Transport 8 6 6 0 2
Supplies & Services 265 46 26 20 83
Civic Catering & Functions 44 5 0 5 20
Legal Expenses 214 47 47 0 0
Total Expenditure 2,327 609 584 25 103

Income
Land Charges -82 -19 -18 (1) (3)
License Income -258 -48 -49 1 2
School SLA's -84 0 0 0 (6)
Fees & Charges Income -63 -28 -29 1 2
Government Grants 0 0 0 0 5
Total Income -487 -95 -96 1 0

Net Operational Expenditure 1,840 514 488 26 103

Covid Costs
Employees 0 0 14 (14) (18)
Legal Expenses 0 0 10 (10) (20)
Elections Covid Grant 0 0 17 (17) (36)
Government Grant Income
General Covid Funding 0 0 -24 24 38
Elections Covid Grant 0 0 -17 17 36
Net Covid Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0

Recharges
Premises Support 55 14 14 0 0
Central Support 321 80 80 0 0
Recharge Income -1,747 -437 -437 0 0
Net Total Recharges -1,371 -343 -343 0 0

Net Departmental Expenditure 469 171 145 26 103

Comments on the above figures

In overall terms, spending is below budget profile at the end of first quarter by £0.071m, it is forecast this will 
be the case for the remainder of the year with a forecast underspend against budget of £0.103m

Supplies and services budgets are underspent mainly due to reductions in advertising expenditure, but this is 
only estimated and could change. 

Civic catering and function spend projections are based on historic data, it is assumed after Covid restrictions 
are lifted events will take place later in the year. Timing of events recommencing will impact on the final 
outturn position.

Legal expenses are dependent on the volume of cases. These cannot be projected accurately and will only be 
confirmed further into the financial year. Such costs and timings will have an effect on the overall outturn.

Page 56



Page 27 of 36

Land Charges and License Income is dependent on demand for property searches and license applications, so 
variable and difficult to project. 

Fees and charges income relates to Legal Fees, these costs cannot be projected accurately and are dependent 
on number of cases. 

Reimbursement and other grant Income actual is the current remaining balance of the 75% payment for 
election cost in relation to the LCRA metro Mayor elections. Costs are still to be paid from these monies but 
any unspent grant will be paid back if not utilised.

Covid expenditure relates to staffing costs for the Communications Lead Officer Post, hours have increased 
due to the pandemic. Other costs relate to outsourcing of legal work as a result of delays in recruitment for 
solicitor due to Covid 

All budget savings applied to 21-22 budget will be achieved. 

Page 57



Page 28 of 36

COMMUNITY & ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT

Revenue Budget as at 30 June 2021

Annual 
Budget

Budget to 
Date

Actual Variance 
(Overspend)

Forecast 
Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
Employees 14,976 3,444 3,234 210 650
Premises 2,279 877 827 50 320
Supplies & Services 1,394 336 317 19 (86)
Book Fund 105 72 72 0 (12)
Hired Services 537 44 43 1 (88)
Food Provisions 459 138 141 (4) 257
School Meals Food 1,835 200 212 (12) (50)
Transport 115 25 25 0 32
Other Agency Costs 106 29 29 0 (10)
Waste Disposal Contract 6,312 0 0 0 200
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 67 -34 -34 0 12
Grant to Norton Priory 172 87 87 0 (1)
Rolling Projects 0 0 32 (32) (32)
Capital Financing 0 0 0 0 7
Total Expenditure 28,357 5,217 4,984 233 1,199

Income
Sales Income -1,294 -324 -146 (178) (621)
School Meals Sales -2,361 -620 -285 (335) (336)
Fees & Charges Income -4,474 -1,393 -1,360 (33) (950)

Rents Income -201 -44 -44 0 (16)
Government Grant Income -31 -31 -412 381 412
Reimbursements & Other Grant Income -597 -30 -30 0 49
Schools SLA -2,183 0 0 0 (20)
Internal Fees Income -333 -63 -18 (45) (180)
School Meals Other Income -251 -3 -3 0 (66)
Catering Fees -28 -7 0 (7) (23)
Capital Salaries -173 0 0 0 1
Transfers from Reserves -80 -1 -1 0 23
Total Income -12,006 -2,515 -2,298 (217) (1,728)

Net Operational Expenditure 16,351 2,701 2,686 16 (529)

Page 58



Page 29 of 36

Covid Costs
Community Development 0 0 1 (1) (1)
Community Safety 0 0 9 (9) (9)
Leisure & Recreation 0 0 7 (7) (16)
Open Spaces 0 0 248 (248) (299)
Schools Catering 0 0 19 (19) (19)
Waste & Environmental 
Improvement 0 0 3 (3) (592)
Shielding Hub 0 0 25 (25) (25)
Avoided Costs
Commercial Catering 98 24 0 24 98
Community Development 35 27 0 27 35
Leisure & Recreation 368 126 0 126 368
Open Spaces 712 245 0 245 712
Schools Catering 972 651 0 651 972
Stadium 451 92 0 92 451
Covid Loss of Income
Commercial Catering -110 -34 0 (34) (110)
Community Development -269 -147 0 (147) (269)
Leisure & Recreation -1,091 -653 0 (653) (1,091)
Open Spaces -1,263 -514 0 (514) (1,263)
Schools Catering -1,497 -954 0 (954) (1,497)
Stadium -682 -215 0 (215) (682)
Waste & Environmental 
Improvement -12 -12 0 (12) (12)
Government Grant Income 0 0 -1,676 1,676 3,249
Net Covid Expenditure -2,288 -1,364 -1,364 0 0

Recharges
Premises Support 1,640 820 820 0 0
Transport Support 2,360 1,184 1,073 111 223
Central Support 4,170 2,085 2,085 0 0
Asset Rental Support 146 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income -488 -244 -244 0 0
Net Total Recharges 7,828 3,845 3,734 111 223

Net Departmental 
Expenditure 22,160 5,899 5,633 266 363

Comments on the above figures

The net Department spend is £0.016m under budget at the end of Quarter 1 with the estimated outturn net 
spend for 2021/22 is £0.474m over the approved budget.

The Department has been greatly affected by Covid-19 for the majority of 2020/21 and this has continued into 
the first quarter of 2021/22.  Many services were halted for at least part of the year, whilst others have had to 
make changes to working methods and service delivery, all of which have had an impact on the Department’s 
budgetary position.  As such, the Department’s outturn for 2020/21 varied greatly to that in 2019/20 and this 
has continued in to 2021/22. There is still considerable uncertainty around when and how service provision can 
begin to return to normal. The Brindley remains closed to the public and whilst libraries, leisure centres and 
community centres have been open for several months, there are still various restrictions on their operation in 
place. These restrictions have caused reduced income levels within the Department compared to pre-pandemic 
levels but the assumption is that these income streams will return, albeit slowly, closer to 2019/20 levels by 
the end of the current financial year 

Employee expenditure is £0.210m under budget at the end of Quarter 1.  The variance relates to a large number 
of unfilled vacancies in leisure centres, The Brindley and within the Open Spaces Division.  Site closures and 
reductions in service delivery have allowed vacancies across the Department to be held open for longer than 
usual which has also contributed to the underspend.  Savings on casual staff and overtime from sites that are 
currently closed have been classed as costs avoided due to Covid-19 and have been netted off reported Covid-
19 income losses.  

Page 59



Page 30 of 36

Employee budgets are based on full time equivalent staffing numbers of 460.

Premises costs are £0.050m under budget at the end of Quarter 1.  Utilities and repair costs have reduced 
considerably whilst sites have been closed.  The outturn position is currently projected to be £0.320m under 
budget due to ongoing closures at The Brindley, a reduction in services offered at the Stadium and reduced 
energy usage at the leisure centres due to restricted capacity even as Covid restrictions are eased.  

Spend on supplies and services is currently £0.019m under budget and spend on hired services is currently 
£0.001m under budget.  Costs in these areas are forecast to pick up during the year as Covid restrictions are 
eased and services revert to 2019/20 levels in some areas.

No invoices have been received for the waste disposal contracts in 2021/22.  Estimated expenditure will 
therefore be calculated based on the average cost per tonne in 2020/21 plus estimated additional tonnage in 
the current year.  Given the high value of these budgets any changes to costs could have a large impact on the 
Department’s outturn budget.

It is extremely challenging to estimate the school meals income which is likely to be received during the rest of 
the year as the service has been subject to considerable disruption since resuming fully in late 2020. Many 
schools have had to send large numbers of children home to self-isolate which has had an impact on sales of 
school meals. It is anticipated that when schools return in September, many Covid restrictions like self-isolation, 
will be replaced with increased testing to allow children to remain in school. Sales income will also be affected 
by the economic downturn due to a likely increase in free school meals numbers and possible reductions in the 
amount of household income available for discretionary spending.  These factors mean that any projections 
relating to the School Meals service are subject to a high degree of uncertainty and could change considerably 
by the end of the 2021/22 financial year.  

Fees & Charges Income is £0.033m under budget at the end of Quarter 1.  This relates to historic shortfalls in 
income in the leisure centres and the Stadium, offset by an increase in income for cemeteries, the crematorium 
and green waste licences.

The Department has incurred £0.023m of additional costs due to Covid-19 at the end of Quarter 1. This is down 
considerably on the costs incurred in 2020/21. The majority of the costs relates to the hiring of a temporary 
cremator and also the costs of webcasts for funerals due to government restrictions on attendances. The 
estimated additional costs for the whole of 2021/22 are £0.338m.  The majority of the additional costs are in 
relation to waste disposal, over the past year there has been a  significant increase in the amount of waste 
generated from households during lockdown. This is a trend that may be a permanent legacy of Covid due to 
an increase in people working from home. There are also additional costs being incurred relating to PPE and 
cleaning requirements in buildings which are open to the public.

Covid-19 related income losses across the Department in Quarter 1 are estimated at £0.496m, as sites remain 
closed or are operating at a reduced capacity.  An increase in working from home and a move to hosting 
meetings virtually is likely to lead to permanent, significant shortfalls in internal income received by the 
Department, although this will be offset by reduced spending elsewhere in the Council.

It has been assumed that all additional costs and loss of external income that can be attributed to Covid-19 will 
be covered by government grant funding.  

The Council has been allocated £0.610m from the Covid Local Support Grant Scheme to support vulnerable 
households while Covid restrictions are still in place.  An amount of £0.120m was spent in Quarter 1 to provide 
food vouchers during the school holidays to families with children entitled to free school meals.  It is anticipated 
that the remainder of the allocation will be used to provide food vouchers over the summer holidays.

Transport recharges are currently projected to underspend by £0.056m at the end of 2021/22.  This is 
consistent with the historical trend of reduced transport costs within the Department.

Page 60



Page 31 of 36

Capital Projects as at 30 June 2021

2021/22
Capital 

Allocation
Allocation 

to Date
Actual 
Spend 

Total 
Allocation 
Remaining

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
 

Stadium Minor Works 30 5 4 26
Stadium Decarbonisation Scheme 1,200 70 67 1,133
Children’s Playground Equipment 65 5 1 64
Landfill Tax Credits 340 0 0 340
Upton Improvements 13 0 0 13
Crow Wood Play Area 50 0 0 50
Peelhouse Lane Cemetery 20 3 3 17
Town Park 280 5 5 275
Open Spaces 650 115 113 537
Litter Bins 20 0 0 20
Brookvale Recreation Centre Pitch 500 0 0 500
Moor Lane Leisure Centre 10,897 50 16 10,881

Total 14,065 253 209 13,856

Comments on the above figures.

Stadium Decarbonisation Scheme - Work has recently commenced on this grant-funded project to reduce 
the DCBL Stadium’s carbon footprint.  This will involve replacing the gas boilers with air source heat pumps 
and installing LED lighting and additional installation.

Children’s Playground Equipment - This is an ongoing project which includes spend on improvements within 
the Borough’s playgrounds.  

Crow Wood Park – The park building and the external works are substantially complete and the next phase of 
landscaping works is now under way.
 
Peelhouse Lane Cemetery – The works to the cemetery are now complete. The expenditure in 2021/22 
relates to retention payments. 

Town Park – The second phase of this project near Palacefields Avenue and Stockham Lane is now underway.

Open Spaces Schemes – This covers spending on a variety of externally funded projects, including work to the 
Town Park Play Area, Sankey Canal Swing Bridge, Covid-19 Tribute Garden, and the Seafarers’ Memorial in 
Runcorn Cemetery.

Brookvale Recreation Pitch – The Football Foundation Grant application decision is not due until July 2021 so 
significant spend on this project will not commence until after this date.

Moor Lane Leisure Centre – Works are currently on hold due to potential compulsory purchase orders (CPO) 
on site. 

Page 61



Page 32 of 36

ECONOMY ENTERPRISE & PROPERTY DEPARTMENT

Revenue Operational Budget as at 30 June 2021

Annual 
Budget

Budget to 
Date

Actual Variance 
(Overspend)

Forecast 
Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
Employees 5,092 1,157 1,166 (9) (43)
Repairs & Maintenance 1,926 356 353 3 (1)
Premises 81 77 77 0 0
Energy & Water Costs 714 107 106 1 4
NNDR 547 547 535 12 12
Rents 165 64 17 47 47
Economic Regeneration Activities 37 0 0 0 0
Security 476 85 85 0 0
Supplies & Services 329 110 112 (2) (7)
Supplies & Services - Grant/External Funded 1,393 124 124 0 0
Grants to Voluntary Organisation 97 23 23 0 0
Covid-19 Discrtionary Business Support Grants 1,518 1,518 1,518 0 0
Capital Financing 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer to Reserves 193 46 46 0 0
Total Expenditure 12,568 4,214 4,162 52 12

Income
Fees & Charges -1,195 -244 -244 0 (1)
Rent - Commercial Properties -837 -227 -209 (18) (52)
Rent - Investment Properties -45 -12 -12 0 0
Rent - Markets -751 -149 -145 (4) (18)
Government Grant Income -2,131 -1,456 -1,456 0 0
Reimbursements & Other Income -1,475 -269 -269 0 7
Schools SLA Income -420 -6 -6 0 0
Recharges to Capital -280 -28 -28 0 0
Transfer from Reserves -1,006 -370 -370 0 0
Total Income -8,140 -2,761 -2,739 (22) (64)

Net Operational Expenditure 4,428 1,453 1,423 30 (52)

Covid Costs
Staffing 0 0 2 (2) (3)
Repairs & Maintenance 0 0 4 (4) (19)
Reopening High Street Safely 0 0 35 (35) (114)
Covid Loss of Income
Rent - Markets -50 -50 0 (50) (50)
Government Grant Income
Covid Grant - Reopening High Street Safely 0 0 -35 35 114
Covid Grant Funding 0 0 -56 56 72
Net Covid Expenditure -50 -50 -50 0 0

Recharges
Premises Support 1,661 415 415 0 0
Transport Support 29 7 7 0 0
Central Support 2,136 534 534 0 0
Asset Rental Support 4 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income -6,402 -1,600 -1,600 0 0
Net Total Recharges -2,572 -644 -644 0 0

Net Departmental Expenditure 1,806 759 729 30 (52)

Page 62



Page 33 of 36

Comments on the above figures

Financial Management continue to work closely with the Department to ensure that a balanced budget is 
achieved. 

To date the Department is reporting net spend is below the approved budget by £0.030m, although the longer 
term forecast through to the end of the year estimates net spend will be slightly above the budget by £0.052m.

Commercial Property rent continues to be the main budget pressure for the department. During the last few 
years, the Council has disposed of many properties, either in preparation for regeneration projects or to 
generate capital receipts.  The loss of rent has been addressed in the setting of the 2021/22 budgeted income 
targets. However, there are still a few properties that have been vacated this year due to the current Covid 
situation.

The saving measures put forward by the Department for 2021/22 are on target to be met this financial year. 
The staff turnover saving target of £0.095m will not be achieved this year as the department only currently has 
three vacancies within the Investment & Development Division, of which two of the posts are currently being 
filled by agency staff.

In previous years the repairs and maintenance budget has been under budget to help the Department 
achieve a balanced budget. It is expected the department will fully spend the budget this year as the work 
that was delayed in previous years will take place this year. 

Market rent is projected to be under budget at the end of the financial year.  The market was closed at the 
beginning of the year and has gradually opened up in the last few weeks. It is now operational and has a capacity 
of 96%, which may help bring the budget back in line before year-end.

Capital grant conditions allowed the Council to recharge staff time to projects for the financial year 2021/22. A 
balanced income budget is forecast this financial year.

Covid Costs

The majority of the costs for COVID are in relation to loss of income for the market.  .  

Additional costs for the department relate to adaptions to corporate buildings to bring the buildings up to 
date with current Covid regulations. It is also projected additional cleaning costs will be incurred over the next 
few months.

Page 63



Page 34 of 36

Capital Projects as at 30 June 21

2020-21  
Capital 

Allocation

Allocation    
to Date

Actual Spend   Total 
Allocation 
Remaining 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure
3MG 199 8 8 191
Foundry Lane Residential Area 1,682 28 28 1,654
Equality Act Improvement Works 390 60 60 330
Widnes Market Refurbishment 44 0 0 44
Broseley House 389 2 2 387
Solar Farm Extension 146 35 35 111
Property Improvements 200 0 0 200
Murdishaw Redevelopment 38 0 0 38
Kingsway Learning Centre Improved Facilities 37 0 0 37
Astmoor Regeneration Project 110 22 22 88
Kingsway Learning Centre Equipment 8 8 8 0
Runcorn Town Centre Funds 1,050 0 0 1,050
Halton Lea TCF 1,062 6 6 1,056
Total 5,355 169 169 5,186

Comments on the above figures.

Foundry Lane –The Foundry Lane project is progressing well. Detailed planning design is underway for Phase 
1, along with initial master planning and statutory planning documentation collation for Phase 2.
 
Equality Act Improvement Works – Circa £100k committed to date, Changing place facility to Widnes Market 
complete, other works on site, further works to spec up from Access Audit work recently undertaken. 

Widnes Market – Works are complete on the market. Practical completion payment due soon. Final retention 
payment due in 12 months.

Broseley House – Demolition works due to commence on site in July with completion hopefully end of 
September. There has been a slight delay due to Scottish Power Energy Works as they have to decommission 
a sub-station contained within the building.

Solar Farm – The Solar Farm was commissioned in July 2021.  It is approaching its first full year in operation. 
To date it has produced approximately 950,000kwh of renewable energy which is above predicted 
expectation of around 850,000 per annum. The Council has a Power Purchase Agreement with EDF for 
exported energy with a private wire connection to the DCBL Stadium.

Property Improvements – Works will be starting shortly on the projects that have been allocated to the 
capital programme

Murdishaw –Murdishaw Steering Group has been established and sub-groups to focus on the Local Centre, 
local environment and bungalow refurbishment. A community led design team has also been established to 
engage with local residents in the development of project proposals
 
Kingsway Learning Centre Improved Facilities – Works were completed February 21. Final retention payment 
is due this financial year.  The remaining of the budget will be used towards refurbishment of a meeting 
room.

Astmoor Regeneration – The overall project remit is to redevelop the 4 ‘handback sites’ handed over from 
the MGA, and to implement the Astmoor Regeneration Masterplan. The project is currently out to 

Page 64



Page 35 of 36

procurement for a JV Partner – with initial interest boding well. Deadline for initial expressions on interest is 
22/07/21, with full submissions to be submitted by 12/09/21. 
 
Kingsway Learning Equipment – All equipment has now been purchased and budget has been spent in full.

Halton Lea Town Centre Fund (TCF) – The Halton Lea TCF programme is on target to deliver by the end of 
October 2021 albeit some timescales have been re-visited given impacts of Covid.  

Page 65



Page 36 of 36

8.0 Application of Symbols

Symbols are used in the following manner:

Progress Symbols

Symbol Objective Performance Indicator

Green
Indicates that the objective is on 
course to be achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe.

Indicates that the annual target is on 
course to be achieved.

Amber

Indicates that it is uncertain or too 
early to say at this stage whether 
the milestone/objective will be 
achieved within the appropriate 
timeframe.

Indicates that it is uncertain or too 
early to say at this stage whether the 
annual target is on course to be 
achieved

Red

Indicates that it is highly likely or 
certain that the objective will not 
be achieved within the appropriate 
timeframe.

Indicates that the target will not be 
achieved unless there is an 
intervention or remedial action 
taken.

Direction of Travel Indicator

Green Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same period last 
year.

Amber Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the same period 
last year.

Red Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same period last 
year.

N / A N / A Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same period last 
year.

Page 66


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
	4 EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES
	Appendix 1 to Item 4, 17/09/2008 Urban Renewal Policy and Performance Board

	5 Member Development Group Notes
	MDG Notes 300120

	6a Appeal Panel Arrangements
	6b Widnes Market Update
	7a Performance Management Reports for Q1 of 2021/22
	CorpPPB 7Sept21 Q1PerfMonitor.docx


